			A - DIC ADIAN
<b>#</b> +	National Library of Canada	Bibliothèque nationa du Canada	D - 3/5 - 03605 -
	Canadian Theses Divisio	on Division des thèses o	canadiennes
	Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4	51500	
	PERMISSION TO N	ICROFILM AUTO	ORISATION DE MICROFILMER
<ul> <li>Please</li> </ul>	e print or type — Écrire en le	ettres moulées ou dactylogra	iphier
	e of Author - Nom complet		
	ANE JACOBSO		
	irth — Date de naissance		Country of Birth — Lieu de naissance
	MBER 21, 19		CANADA
Permaner 1201	nt Address — Résidence fixe		•
	NONTON, ALTA		
	The THIN	T65289	
Title of Th	nésis — Titre de la thèse		
		Rent Ann	man Ar Deline of the
-	The Municipal.	necieanon nges	nig 175 Delivered of Leisure
	The Municipal Services to	the Aundicapped	ncy As Deliverer of Leisure 5mall in Roman Alberta Commun ties.
- -	The Municipal Services to	the Handicapped	in Roman Alberta Commun ties.
University -	Université		in Roman Alberta Commun ties.
University -	- Université	116 10	,
University - Le Un Degree for	- Université , U = v s i / y Cf H which thesis was presented		,
University - Le Un Degree for Mi	- Université , Uzusily of A which thesis was presented A	The state — Grace pour lequel cette t	,
University - Le Un Degree for Mi	- Université , U = v s i / y Cf H which thesis was presented	The state — Grace pour lequel cette t	,

the film. The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÈ-QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.

Date

pril 28, 1981

Signature

Diane Jacobson Hay

**\*** 

National Library of Canada Collections Development Branch

Canadian Theses on Microfiche Service

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada Direction du développement des collections

Service des thèses canadiennes sur microfiche

# NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C.30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

# THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmation pous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

AVIS

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

# LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

# THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

# THE MUNICIPAL RECREATION AGENCY AS DELIVERER OF LEISURE SERVICES TO THE HANDICAPPED IN SMALL ALBERTA COMMUNITIES

by DIANE JACOBSON HOY

## **A**

# A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF ARTS

# DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICAL EDUCATION

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

تنوا

SPRING, 1981

# THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

#### RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR TITLE OF THESIS OF LEISURE SERVICES TO THE HANDICAPPED IN SMALL ALBERTA COMMUNITIES DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED MASTER OF ARTS 1981

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(Signed) PERMANENT ADDRESS:

Zammiclen Alle

Mull Aspen Dite

# THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

## FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled . THE MUNICIPAL RECREATION AGENCY AS DELIVERER OF LEISURE SERVICES TO THE HANDICAPPED IN SMALL ALBERTA COMMUNITIES DIANE JACOBSON HOY in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Physical Education.

Supervisor

Date April 14 ... 1981.

To my husband David for your sense of humor your unending patience and your love.

2

5.

.

•

r

· 12

53. 18

2

#### AB STRACT

The study was undertaken to investigate the delivery of recreation services to handicapped persons by municipal recreation departments in small Alberta communities. Fourteen municipal recreation directors in communities with populations of 4,000 to 10,000 persons were administered oral and written questionnaires.

The results of the study indicate that there are many factors which affect the delivery of recreation services to handicapped persons in small communities. While the situation across recreation departments was quite variable, most recreation directors did not feel that they were doing an adequate job of serving the handicapped. The departments had difficulties in determining what kind of recreation services were needed by handicapped persons. While requests for service by or on behalf of handicapped persons most frequently resulted in a service provided either in a regular or segregated program, the actual frequency of requests and services provided to handicapped persons was quite low.

Although not often found, ongoing discussions appeared to be a factor which could facilitate the development of recreation programs involving the handicapped. Improved educational and experiential opportunities were needed by recreation staff members and volunteers. A number of factors point to the necessity of giving careful consideration to both the content and the process of providing staff training.

The recreation departments surveyed were infrequently involved with providing services across a developmental service delivery continuum, but the recreation directors were supportive of the idea of trying to utilize such an approach, and many also expressed support for adopting individualized instruction as a method of upgrading the skills of handicapped

v

participants.

There appeared to be a need to investigate how advocacy and advisory groups including government agencies can best facilitate the development of integrated recreation services. The impact of provincial level bodies on normalized recreation service provision in small communities appeared to be minimal.

The attitudes of recreation department staff members, recreation board members, and the general public towards integrated recreation, is likely to significantly influence the delivery of recreation services to handicapped persons. Thus there is a need to employ strategies aimed at creating positive opinions within each of these groups regarding the participation of handicapped individuals in community recreation.

Finances and architectural barriers are factors which may limit the provision of recreation services to handicapped persons in many of the communities surveyed. In several communities transportation was also a limiting factor. I would like to thank Professor Val Blakely for sharing with me her special knowledge related to this thesis topic.

I would like to thank Dr. Ted Wall for the countless hours which he devoted to advising me on this thesis.

I would like to express by deepest appreciation to both Dr. Ted Wall and Dr. Jane Watkinson for their friendship, guidance and willingness to share their knowledge with me over the past five years. Their high standards and dedication to the field of adapted physical education has acted as a continuing source of inspiration to their graduate students.

A special thanks is directed to my typist Mrs. Cheryl Luchkow for her conscientious work.

I would also like to acknowledge my fellow graduate students and staff and faculty members whose friendship and support have meant so much.

1

Finally, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to all of the members of my family whose loving support gave me the strength to complete this thesis.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

٠

.

CHAPTER		PAGE
I. IN	TRODUCTION	1
	Statement of the Problem	3
	Delimitations	4.
		6
II. REV	VIEW OF LITERATURE	8
	The Importance of Play, Recreation and Leisure	8
	The Concept of Normalization	10
	The Implications of Applying the Normalization Principle to the Delivery of Recreation Services to Handicapped Persons	11
	The Spinak Model	12
	) The Sensrud Model	12
	The Hutchison and Lord Model	13
	The Arsenault and Wall Model	14
	Perceived Problems and Proposed Solutions	15
	Selected Surveys on Recreation for the Handicapped in Canada	23
	The Hunt Survey	23
	The Witt Survey	25
	Comments on the Witt Survey and the AABRD Report	29
	Survey Research, Questionnaire Construction, and Interview Techniques	32
	Survey Research	32
	Questionnaire Construction	33
	Interview Techniques	35

•

ć

đ

•

III. METHODOLOGY	37
Development of Written and Oral Questionnaires	37
Oral Questionnaire	37
Written Questionnaire	37 • .
Sampling	38
Procedures	39
Analysis of Data	39
Oral Questionnaires	39
Written Questionnaires	40
IV. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	41
Oral Questions	41
Determining Recreation Needs in the Community .	41
Requests for Recreation Services	43
Comments	46
Advertisement - How the Handicapped or Their Friends Idencify Recreation Opportunities	52
Staff Discussions Regarding Service Provision for the Handicapped	56
Related Education and Experience of Recreation Staffs	59
The Role of Volunteers	64
The Use of a Continuum Approach to Service Delivery	67
Individualized Instruction	73
Contacts with the Recreation Services to	
Special Groups Section of Alberta Recreation and Parks	76
Communications with Advocate Groups	81

۹ ۹ ۱

\$

.

SUMMARY

**v**.

١.

.

Written Policies
Staff Hesitancy Towards Working with the Handicapped
Perceived Public Opinion on Integrated Services
Recreation Boards
Financial Barriers
Physical Barriers - Facilities and Transportation
Facility Restrictions
Written Results
ARY AND CONCLUSIONS
Oral and Written Data
Assessing Needs
Requests for Services
Reponses to Requests for Services
Comments Regarding Programs
Advertising
Staff Discussions
Education and Experience of Recreation Staffs and Volunteers
The Use of a Continuum Approach to Service Delivery
Indivdualized Instruction
Contacts with the Recreation Services to Special Groups Section of Alberta Recreation and Parks
Communications with Advocate Groups 116

PAGE

x

CHAPTER.

Written Policies
Staff Attitudes Towards Service Provision for the Handicapped
Public Opinion on Integrated Services 118
Recreation Boards
Financial Limitations
Physical Barriers - Facilities and Transportation
Facility Restrictions:
<b>REFERENCES</b>
APPENDIX A - INTERVIEW MATERIALS
APPENDIX B - ORAL QUESTIONNAIRE
APPENDIX C - CRAL QUESTIONNAIRE RECORDING FORM
APPENDIX D - WRITTEN QUESTIONNAIRE
APPENDIX E - LETTERS
APPENDIX F - WRITTEN POLICY USED BY A RECREATION DEPARTMENT 159
APPENDIX G - POPULATION FIGURES OF COMMUNITIES PARTICIPATING IN THE SURVEY
APPENDIX H - A DEVELOPMENTAL CONTINUUM OF EXPERIENCES HUTCHISON AND LORD (1979)

xi

PAGE

# LIST OF TABLES

\$

¥

TABLE	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
1.	Methods Used to Determine Recreation Needs	41
2.	Responses to Requests for Recreation Services and Recreation Services Provided	45
3.	Frequencies of Advertisement Methods	53
4.	Educational Background of Recreation Staffs Related to the Handicapped or Recreation for the Handicapped	60
5.	Experience with Handicapped Persons in Recreation Settings	62
6.	Reported Use of Volunteers by Recreation Departments	65
7.	Reported Use of a Continuum Approach to Service Delivery by Municipal Recreation Departments	69
8.	Expressed Support for Involvement at Each Stage of Service Delivery Continuum	70
9.	Percei Staff Hesitancies About Working with the Handicapred	84
10.	Perceived Dependence of People's Feelings Regarding Integrated Recreation on the Handicap(s) of Other Participates	89
11.	Facility Barriers in Thirteen Communities	96
12.	Likert Scaled Assessment of Recreation Service Provision by Local Agencies for the Handicapped	100
13.	Likert Scaled Assessment of Recreation Department Service Provision for Handicapped Persons	100
14.	Likert Scaled Assessment of the Demand for Recreation Services by Handicapped Persons in the Past Five Years .	100
15.	Likert Scaled Assessment of the Need for Improved Recreation Services by Eight Handicapped Groups	102
16.	Likert Scaled Assessment of Staff Confidence in Programming for Eight Handicapped Groups	103
17.	Likert Scaled Assessment of Staff Views Regarding the Provision of Direct Services to Handicapped Persons ]	104

xii

PAGE

0

18.	Likert Scaled Assessment of the Recreation Board's Views Regarding the Provision of Direct Services to Handicapped Persons
19.	Likert Scaled Assessment of Public Opinion on Integrated Recreation Programs
20.	Likert Scaled Assessment of Potential Involvement on a Service Delivery Continuum
21.	Likert Scaled Assessment Regarding the Inclusion of a of a Voice for the Handicapped on the Recreation Board
22.	Likert Scaled Assessment Regarding the Inclusion of a Handicapped Person on the Recreation Board 106
23.	Potential Problems in Offering or Improving Services for the Handicapped

TABLE

نغرر

ĩ

#### CHAPTER I

## INTRODUCTION

There has been a trend towards handicapped persons living in the community in recent years, a trend largely attributable to the philosophy of normalization as articulated by Wolfensberger (1972). A key component of the normalization philosophy is the utilization by handicapped persons of human services as delivered by normative or generic service providers. This includes services in health care, education, recreation, religion as well as such services as beauty care, food services and entertainment. Advocacy, by handicapped persons or on their behalf has resulted in the increase in the use of generic services by persons who are handicapped (Hutchison and Lord, 1979).

Some generic services may be provided to many handicapped consumers easily, with a minimum level of adaptation on the part of the generic agency. Yet for other generic agencies the provision of services of good quality, appropriate to handicapped consumers, of necessity involves a change in the way the service is delivered and in the actual nature of the service.

Recreation, play and the constructive use of leisure time have been recognized as being important elements contributing to the quality of life for persons of all ages (Kraus, 1978). As a generic service, municipally sponsored recreation faces the challenge of providing recreation services of good quality to handicapped persons which is a challenge requiring changes in both the delivery and nature of recreation services.

It has been suggested that there is a need to focus attention on the delivery of recreation services to handicapped persons in small communities because a large part of the Canadian population resides in communities with populations under 10,000 persons (Witt, 1974). With the trend towards

deinstitutionalization and the decentralization of 'services for handicapped persons, the incidence of handicapped persons living in small communities is likely to increase to more closely reflect the overall incidence of handicapping conditions occurring in the population.

The very nature of the small community has implication for the delivery of recreation services. The majority of opportunities for participation occur either directly under the auspices of the municipal recreation agency or co-sponsored by that agency and other groups. The alternatives commonly found in larger population centres, particularly in programs, facilities and groups sponsoring recreation are unlikely to exist in small municipalities. Furthermore, often the municipal recreation department is the source of recreation expertise in small communities. In most cases, the key individual in the recreation department is the recreation director.

1.	The Recreation Director (Recreation Supervisor, Superintendent
	or Administrator)
	a) Is responsible for assisting the board in planning,
	promoting, organizing and administering complete
	recreation services to the community.
	b) serves as a technical advisor to the Municipal Council.
<	d) Is a recreation consultant for the community.
(Alt	perta Recreation, Parks and Wildlife, 1976, p. 31)

Given that the recreation director is the most influential recreation professional in a small community, his or her knowledges, competencies, and attitudes will certainly have a tremendous impact on the recreation services which are provided.

Thus, in investigating the process of integration in recreation service provision in small communities, the municipal recreation department and moreover the recreation director are of particular interest.

To facilitate the process of integration in recreation services it is important to understand the kinds of opinions which are held by recreation directors.

In examining the municipal recreation agency as provider of recreation services to the handicapped there are numerous factors to consider. The interaction of these factors further contributes to the complexity of the topic. The research conducted attempted to provide a structure to the study of factors affecting the provision of recreation services to handicapped persons in small communities. More specifically, an attempt was made to identify key problems, the structures of and relationships between problems, and the levels at which problems may be attacked. Because of the exploratory nature of the study, it was necessary to develop measurement instruments appropriate to the sample element (the recreation director), the context in which the element is found (recreation departments in small Alberta municipalities), and of course, both appropriate and of adequate precision to measure the topic under investigation. The development of the instruments involved a great deal of writing, consulting with experts and making revisions. Although this was a time consuming process, it was considered necessary as a means of ensuring that the instruments were of high quality.

#### STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

The purpose of this study was to investigate the current state of the art regarding the delivery of normalized recreation services by municipal recreation authorities in small communities, to identify factors which may facilitate or inhibit the delivery of such services, and to identify possible courses of action which may diminish the influence of factors that inhibit the delivery of these services.

The study attempted to provide answers to the following questions: 1. What is being done in the areas of need determination and the provision of programs for handicapped citizens? How are recreation opportunities advertized? What policies, if any, guide recreation departments regarding the provision of services to handicapped citizens?

- 2. What are the attitudes of recreation staffs, recreation boards and the general public as inferred by the recreation directors towards the participation of handicapped persons in community recreation?
- 3. What is the extent and nature of the impact of advocacy groups and advisory bodies on municipally sponsored recreation services for the handicapped?
- 4. What is the situation regarding accessibility to facilities, trans-
- 5. What is the situation regarding staff and volunteer training and experience?
- 6. What is known about service delivery alternatives and how appropriate are various alternatives perceived to be?
- 7. What are problems which community recreation personnel perceive as inhibiting the offering or improving of recreation services for the handicapped?

### DELIMITATIONS

The study was delimited to include a sample of recreation directors in Alberta municipalities of 4,000 to 10,000 in population which received mailings from the Recreation Services to Special Groups Section of the Alberta Recreation and Parks Department. The study sought to exclude purely regional recreation boards. The extent to which the opinions of the subjects are reflective of recreation directors in municipalities of other sizes or recreation directors responsible for a region with equivalent population but not responsible for a town or village of the delimited size is unknown.

Two measurement instruments, an oral and a written questionnaire were each administered once over the course of a single meeting. The study did not attempt to measure changes which may have occurred as a result of the total measurement experience.

The oral questionnaire was the primary data collection instrument. The structured interview technique enabled the most effective collection of detailed data which is appropriate in this exploratory type of study. Probing behavior by the interviewer was considered important as a means of dealing with the variability between the circumstances surrounding each subject. A further advantage of the interview is the possibility of providing the interviewees with information. This enabled exploration of the eceptiveness of the recreation directors to specific ideas of which the previously have been unaware.

The vector questionnaire was essentially intended to corroborate the results — the oral questionnaire. It also functioned to provide information on — writh a which recreation directors assigned to problems and to groups recovering services

Furthermore the study was delimited to a single order of administration within and between instruments. The oral questionnaire was administered prior to the writtee questionnaire. The order of questions within each instrument is presented in appendices B and D.

Part of the order effect between and within instruments was deemed necessary owing to the attempt to present ideas and to structure the interview so that subjects would be providing information and then interpreting or discussing this information.

### LIMITATIONS

The data collected was influenced by personal characteristics of the subjects and external factors characterizing individual situations. External factors are thought to include history, the events just prior to the interview, as well as events anticipated in the immediate future. For instance, one subject who anticipated an unpleasant meeting later in the day, tended to answer questions in a very negative manner. Another subject who had just received an unanticipated grant from a government source tended to describe that source in very positive terms. Variability in the previous employment of the subjects as well as in the duration of their current employment may also have affected responses. With regard to personal characteristics, individual differences in styles of communication, in the ability to articulate ideas and feelings as well as in memory and self confidence are considered to have had an effect on the responses of the subjects. Some respondents tended to be extremely brief while others tended towards verbosity providing somewhat confused answers in the process.

A further limitation which is related to the subjects is the problem of reactivity. The obtrusive nature of the measurement certainly had some effect on the responses of the subjects, although the strength of this effect is unknown. There is also the problem of response sets, such as saying yes to every item or answering in a socially desirable way.

As one subject in effect said, "Of course I'm going to try to present myself in the most favourable way."

A limitation to the sampling procedure was the length of time elapsed between the most recent Canada Census (1976) and the collection of the survey data (1980). This resulted in discrepancies between the hypothetical sample characteristics and the actual population served, as estimated by the recreation directors. Furthermore, the fact that some departments were responsible for persons living in the surrounding rural area while others were not further increased the discrepancy between the intended and the actual sample characteristics.

By considering the interviewer as an instrument, an additional limitation which arises is that of instrument decay. It is highly probable that the interviewer became more skilled over the course of • the data collection period. Undoubtedly an order effect existed within and between the measurement instruments. The strength of this effect is unknown. In attempting to structure responses to open-ended oral questions in a framework suitable for analysis or discussion, it is likely that some information was lost.

Specific characteristics of the different recreation departments, such as the number of staff the department employed, led to different interpretations of some questions. Another situational variable which may have influenced the responses of the subjects was interruptions during the interview. In no fewer than seven interviews there were one or more interruptions, such as telephone calls or persons appearing at the door. 7

ł

#### CHAPTER II

### **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

# THE IMPORTANCE OF PLAY, RECREATION AND LEISURE

Play customarily is ... regarded as an activity carried on within leisure for purposes of pleasure and self-expression. It tends to be active and to be carried on in a spirit of competition, exploration or make-believe. Customarily, play is regarded as a child's activity although an adult may engage in play and in some circumstances may find play in his work .... much play behavior is culturally induced or learned activity .... Play behavior covers a wide range of behavior. It may consist of casual, informal exploration ... it may include participation in highly structured activities.... play helps in achieving communication, and a sense of unity as well as in defining and expressing values, carrying out therapeutic and educational functions, and channeling aggression in nondestructive ways. (Kraus, 1978, pp. 30-31)

Recreation consists of activities or experiences carried on within leisure, usually chosen voluntarily by the part fcipant - either because of satisfaction, pleasure or creative enrichment derived, or because he perceives certain personal or social values to be gained from them. It may also be perceived as the process of participation, or as the emotional state derived from involvement. When carried on as part of organized community or voluntary-agency programs, recreation must be designed to meet constructive and socially acceptable goals of the individual participant, the group and society at large. Finally, recreation must be recognized as a social institution with its own values and traditions, structures and organizations and professional groups and skilled p = .:tioners. (Kraus, 1978, p. 37)

Leisure is that portion of an individual's time which is not devoted to work or work-connected responsibilities or to other forms of maintained activity and which therefore may be regarded as discretionary or unobligated time. Leisure implies freedom of choice and must be seen as available to all whether they work or not. Leisure is customarily used in a variety of ways, either to meet one's personal needs for self-enrichment relaxation or pleasure, or to contribute to society's well-being. (Kraus, 1978, p. 44).

The preceding paragraphs are Kraus' definitions of recreation and leisure, and a portion of his attempt to define play. How does Kraus interpret the relation between play, recreation and leisure?

> ... although play and recreation tend to overlap, they are not identical processes. Play ... represents not so much an activity as a form of behavior ... Play can occur during work or leisure whereas recreation can occur only during leisure. Recreation is seen as a form of human activity and experience that, although often playful in manner, is not always so ...

(Leisure) affords an opportunity for (play and recreation). The bulk of our leisure in modern society is filled with a variety of recreational pastimes ... (Kraus, 1978, pp. 44-45)

In recent years a great deal of writing has been devoted to the topics of play and recreation and leisure. While there are numerous opinions about how these concepts should be defined and about the relative importance of various factors which are thought to underlie each concept, the one point about which authors seem to agree is that play, recreation and leisure are very important elements in the lives of human beings (Levy, 1978; Caplan and Caplan, 1973; Heron and Sutton-Smith, 1971; Avedon, 1974; Kraus, 1978; Kaplan, 1975; Murphy, 1975).

How important is play? Quoting Kusyszn, Levy (1978) writes, "Play is the primary activity for confirming our existence and affirming our worth" (p. 183).

From the widely accepted assertion that play, recreation and the constructive use of leisure time are vital to all people it is logical to assume that the same holds true for persons who have handicaps. In fact it has been suggested that play and recreation may be even more important to the handicapped than the non-handicapped.

> Play, through its capacity for fostering abilities, has enabled the disabled to achieve self-fulfillment and social recognition, while has heretofore been denied to them in other spheres of life. (Levy, 1978, p. 190)

#### THE CONCEPT OF NORMALIZATION

Wolfensberger (1972) presented the concept of normalization to the people of North America based upon ideologies and practices in human services which he had encountered in Scandinavian countries. He defined normalization as the "utilization of means which are as culturally normative as possible in order to establish and/or maintain personal behaviors and characteristics which are as culturally normative as possible" (p. 28). The term normative was defined as meaning 'typical' or 'conventional'. Wolfensberger implied that the term normalization implied both a process and a goal.

According to Wolfensberger (1972):

The predominant portion of human management services is rendered by generic agencies ... and to typical citizens. However, a highly visible portion of human management concerns itself with individuals whom the public, or a significant segment of it views as 'deviant'. (p. 13)

What is deviance?

A person can be said to be deviant if he is perceived as being significantly different from others in some aspect that is considered of relative importance and if this difference is negatively valued. (Wolfensberger, 1972, p. 13)

Handicapped individuals frequently have been viewed as deviant. According to Wolfensberger (1972) society has attempted to deal with deviancy in four ways: "the destruction of deviant individuals, their segregation, reversal of their condition or prevention thereof" (p. 24). It is the latter alternatives, the prevention and reversal of deviancy, which normalization is concerned with. Deviancy can be prevented or reversed by education, training or treatment and by changing the negative values which society places on certain kinds of differences.

Wolfensberger elaborated in considerable detail a number of

implications of the principle of normalization on the delivery of human services to handicapped persons and particularly to persons with mental handicaps. Subsequently, a number of authors have considered the implications of the principle of normalization on the delivery of recreation services to handicapped persons.

# THE IMPLICATIONS OF APPLYING THE NORMALIZATION PRINCIPLE TO THE DELIVERY OF RECREATION SERVICES TO HANDICAPPED PERSONS

Utilizing the "culturally normative means" of service provision implies that handicapped persons should receive recreation services from the same recreation agencies which serve the other members of the population in the same programs and the same facilities as everyone else. Culturally normative recreative behaviors and characteristics implies participation in activities which a number of members of the population choose to participate in, with physical and social competencies and having the same pleasurable affective results normally attributable to play experiences.

However, the key feature of Wolfensberger's definition is use of the words "as possible" qualifying both the means and the behavioral outcome. This allows recognition that everyone may not be able to benefit from the regular program or behave in a manner which corresponds with the behavior of other participants in the regular program.

Recognizing that many handicapped individuals cannot just suddenly appear in the culturally normative recreation programs with the culturally normative behaviors, a number of authors have devised strategies or paradigms which are geared to the development of "normalized" recreation participation by handicapped individuals.

#### The Spinak Model

Spinak (1976) presented a four step model for integrating handicapped persons into community recreation. From recreation in institutional settings, handicapped persons move to participating in recreation programs 'for' the disabled in society, followed by recreation programs 'with' the disabled in society. The final step is integrated programs in the normalized area of society. Spinak's intent seems to be only to describe a process of normalization in recreation service delivery which he believes is occurring rather than providing model from which to develop services. Details about differing characteristics at each stage of the model are not provided.

### The Sensrud Model

Sensrud (1978) advocates the use of 'a sequential recreation integration steams' model as an aid to community recreators. She notes that most members of "special populations" live in the community, and therefore have a right to community recreation services (Sensrud, 1978, p. 28). According to the author the model is a modification of Spinak's model. The first level of participation is segregated therapeutic recreation occurring in institutions. The remaining kinds of participation are placed upon a continuum of integration. First are specialized services in which the handicapped participants have skill deficits in one or more areas of self help, recreation or leisure and socialization. Programs are individualized to develop skills. A minority of "normal" individuals are participants in this kind of program. The next type of program is the transitional service which is seen as an intermediate step which is set in the community and in which adaptations are provided when needed. The final step is fully integrated services which entails participation in normal community recreation. Sensrud notes that at this final level supports may still be needed by some handicapped participants.

## The Hutchison and Lord Model

Hutchison and Lord (1979) have written:

It is the responsibility of community supported recreational and leisure agencies to initiate and facilitate leisure involvement for all persons in the community. This responsibility includes recognizing the recreational rights and needs of persons with disabilities, older adults and other devalued groups. (p. 46)

The recreation integration model devised by these authors has three core components: upgrade, educate and participate. Briefly the model specifies upgrading the confidence, self esteem and the physical and social skills of handicapped participants using developmental programming. Targets for education are persons with disabilities, advocates and parents, recreational staff and volunteers, nondisabled recreation participants and the general public. Participation by handicapped persons occurs with support and advocacy and by carefully programming utilizing a continuum of services. The seven types of recreation participation which are identified on the continuum (see p.165) vary in degree of "restrictiveness" from most restrictive to least restrictive. Movement from the most restrictive to the least restrictive environments corresponds with changes from segregated to physically integrated to socially integrated experiences. The authors note that while an individual can participate at various points on the continuum simultaneously, the least restrictive participation should be chosen in each instance. Personal characteristics, such as needs, interests, skills, choice and experience as well as the program factors of availability, quality of leadership, nature of experience and quality of experience are factors which Hutchison and Lord believe

must be considered in choosing the least restrictive participation (Hutchison and Lord, 1978, p. 112).

Hutchison and Lord (1979) provide some insights as to how they believe their continuum of services can aid recreation practitioners.

> Conceptualizing a continuum of opportunities allows workers in segregated settings to dramatically inge their priorities and goals.

> When staff and volunteers in generic leisure agencies understand how their services are part of a developmental continuum of services they can begin to reach out and cooperate with institutions and voluntary advocate associations in their community. (p. 110)

## The Arsenault and Wall Model

A model for the delivery of recreation services was formulated and revised by Arsenault and Wall and appeared in Arsenault (1978), Simard and Wall (1979), and Arsenault and Wall (1979). In addition to specifying the group composition (segregated or integrated) and the physical environment (spector facility or community facility) the authors introduce the concept of program objectives (skill acquisition and the upgrading of skills or activity participation ) (Arsenault and Wall, 1979). Arsenault and Wall suggest that the failure to consider program objectives leads to the assumption that all segregated programs are 'bad' while all integrated programs are good.

A diagrammatic representation of a four stage model appears in the Simard and Wall (1978) paper (see Appendix A ). The diagram shows how the program objectives of skill acquisition and activity participation interact: both are present in each program approach; as the importance of skill acquisition decreases, the importance of activity participation increases. The four points on the continuum, instructional programs in a segregated setting, the instructional programs in a public setting, 14

integrated programs with supports, and the regular community programs are described in Appendix B (page 134).

Subsequent to publishing this model, Arsenault and Wall (1979) divided integrated programs with supports into two parts: consciously integrated programs with required supports, and integrated programs with necessary supports.

The basis for this distinction is the authors' feeling that the kind of supports needed by the individual changes. In both program approaches support is needed in areas external to the actual program activity, whereas in the consciously integrated program, support is also likely to be needed during the activity.

In order that the continuum may be successfully implemented Arsenault and Wall (1979) identify two basic areas to which programmers should attend. The first area is participant characteristics. This includes: general information about the participant such as age, sex, and limitations; skills (physical, social, communication, auxiliary, etc.); experience and interests; and available supports (siblings, parents, advocates, community).

The second area for recreation programmers to consider concerns planning factors at each stage of the continuum. This involves leadership skills and environmental considerations both of which vary cross the different program approaches on the continuum. Numerous leadership skills in such areas as program planning, individualized instruction, personal communication, group leadership and integration leadership are identified.

# PERCEIVED PROBLEMS AND PROPOSED SOLUTIONS

Hutchison and Lord (1979) analyzed six major problems limiting the involvement of disabled persons in the community and more specifically,

in community recreation.

The first problem cited was the existence of negative public attitudes towards handicapped persons. In the authors' opinion negative attitudes have an historical basis and continue to exist as an outgrowth of a general rejection of differentness in our culture, a factor which they attribute to an hierarchical organization of society which encourages the valuing of some persons over others.

The next problem identified was the low priority given to recreation for handicapped persons, both by community leisure agencies and by voluntary advocate associations. The former group were seen to be uncomfortable about serving handicapped persons and therefore make excuses for not doing so, whilst the latter group tend to give other services a higher priority and tend to view recreation in a narrow way, preferring 'safe' programs.

A further problem was the presentation of recreation as a therapy mode, thus portraying the handicapped as 'sick' individuals and consequently perpetuating "... segregated programing, over-protection and low expectations" (Hutchison and Lord, 1979, p. 19).

The absence of support services to enable the handicapped to particpate was also cited as a problem. This includes inaccessible facilities, inadequate transportation, the cost of recreation programs and the lack of persons to assist participants in programs.

In addition to the lack of support services, "Inadequate leadership and inappropriate programs make participation unattractive and unrealistic for many consumers" (Hutchison and Lord, 1979, p. 22).

The final criticism was pointed at segregated recreation services which were 'dead-ends' for handicapped consumers. These services were characterized as lacking a skill upgrading emphasis, occurring in isolated 16

ことであるないで

locations, consisting of age inappropriate activities and generally denying any opportunities for risk-taking.

Hutchison and Lord identified four areas where there was a need for change in order that the aforementioned problems could be solved. These included changes in personal attitudes and behaviors, changes in communities, changes in human services and changes in leisure services. Essentially the authors suggest that in each of these areas it is the underlying ideologies which must be changed towards a more humanistic orientation committed to the process of normalization.

According to Sensrud (1978) the word "integration" frightens public recreation administrators.

Municipal recreation personnel may envision all special populations integrated immediately into the public setting. They may fear mass confusion, lack of support and disruption of program continuity or the individuals themselves. (p. 28)

Sensrud felt these fears could be dispelled if recreation directors learned to view integration as a developmental kind of process rather than just an end. This process is presented in 'sequential recreation integration streams' model.

Hartnett (1976) identified a number of problems plaguing the development of integrated recreation services for mentally handicapped persons. His claims were based on reports of field workers employed to investigate integration in each province of Canada.

Basically, recreation départments resisted integration because the departments were overtaxed, had no trained staff members, feared negative public reaction, and perceived the handicapped to be lacking skills. Furthermore, Hartnett concluded, the mentally handicapped did have physical and social skill deficits and lacked confidence. The programs which existed were limited in scope because recreation was narrowly defined. The needs and desires of handicapped individuals were not considered. Low expectations about the capabilities of the mentally handicapped were characteristic of parents, volunteers and recreation staff. Finally, misconceptions about mentally handicapped persons were prevalent.

Hartnett gave six recommendations for action based on the identified problems which are summarized as: a) more public education by advocate groups; b) training programs to upgrade the skills of the mentally handicapped and for recreation personnel; c) the establishment of resource teams composed of specialists to provide consulting services; d) leisure counselling for handicapped persons provided by recreation departments; e) the establishment of priorities and strategies by associations such as offering support, organizing upgrading programs and evaluating ongoing integrated programs; f) improved consultation with the consumer group.

According to Sugiyama (1978), parents of handicapped and nonhandicapped children both resist integrated programs out of fears that their children will not have a good time. Parents of handicapped children fear their children will not be accepted. Parents of nonhandicapped children lack knowledge about the handicapped.

Sugiyama recommends attacking fears head-on. She advocates honestly stating goals in program advertisements and educating parents about what is being done and why. Providing extra support to the participating handicapped child is seen as a means for dealing with the fears of that child's parents.

According to Melchers (1976A) a problem in the delivery of recreation services to the handicapped is that individual agencies representing different disability groups duplicate services resulting in a waste of human and financial resources. Melchers felt this problem could be solved by better coordination of services, and he advocated interagency 18

الشهموية بقالا

contracting as a means of achieving specific objectives.

Melchers noted that the roles of groups which served the handicapped are changing as a result of the changes in philosophical orientation towards integration.

> The overall goal of recreation services and the handicapped is now to enable every individual to develop leisure recreational and social relationships within his community in as fully normal way as possible ... (Melchers, 1976A, p. 31)

Furthermore, he suggests that

Voluntary organizations because of their strength in the community are in a key position to play an important role in advocating, developing and coordinating recreation and leisure time services for the handicapped. (Melchers, 1976A, p. 31)

For Melchers, the basic roles of national advocate associations should be conducting campaigns to improve public attitudes towards integration and speaking on behalf of the handicapped to the federal government regarding the transportation, architectural and economic concerns of the handicapped. Provincial and local advocate associations should undertake community studies to identify available and potential recreation opportunities. In addition Melchers suggests that these groups should undertake initial leisure counselling and provide participation supports. Furthermore, he proposed that retraining programs were needed by staffs of advocate agencies and by volunteers and professionals working in cooperating fields and that resource materials and consultative services are also needed.

Melchers drew attention to the need for better cooperation between agencies to develop sheltered and homebound services and for the need to establish standards for training professionals to conduct such programs. He felt these services were needed because. ... many handicapped people due to the nature or degree of their handicap, will never realistically be able to play a major part in community life. (Melchers, 1976A, p. 33)

In a subsequent article, Melchers (1976B) called for changes in the approach to human services to meet the demands for an improved lifestyle articulated by disabled groups. A problem which he identifies is that most recreation for disabled persons is conducted in institutional settings with the only purpose of providing fun or a diversion rather than being directed towards preparing individuals for integration into community programs. He points out that this approach is incongruent with normalization ideology. Melchers proposes the Hutchison and Lord model which has upgrade, educate and participate components contributing to the process of recreation integration.

> What is needed to implement this new approach to recreation services (the Hutchison and Lord model) is the identification of relevant forces within the community which contribute to gr impede change and the development of an overall community based approach. (Melchers, 1976B, p. 5)

A further problem which Melchers identifies is the tendency of municipal recreation authorities to 'offer lip service' to serving all members of the community while in reality providing very limited access to the poor, the elderly, the disabled and other groups. He recommends that municipal recreation authorities broaden "programs, activities, and approaches to provide opportunities for relevant participation by every citizen" (Melchers, 1976B, p. 6).

In Melchers' opinion the generic providers of recreation maintain a narrow approach in the provision of service to the handicapped because specialized segregated services continue to exist. Conceding that specialized services may be needed for severely handicapped individuals or as part of upgrading opportunities, Melchers feels that the purpose of

specialized services must be to aid handicapped persons in the transition from segregated to integrated programs. Segregated and integrated service providers need to cooperate, sharing facilities, personnel and manpower development. Finally, with the increased trend towards community based services the role of specialized resource personnel will be to act as consultants to integrated programs.

Edginton, McDonald and Smith (1978) conducted in which recreation directors were asked to rank 82 goal states into it to actual importance and as to how important each should be. The state showed a large discrepency between the importance of "serving all people" factual 16; should be 13) and "serving special populations" (actual 72; in 1d be 58). This discrepency was even larger in communities with populations less than 10,000 persons (serve all people: actual 8; should be 2 vs. serve special populations: actual 78; should be 66). The authors note that the actual importance of serving children, adults and senior citizens were ranked 2nd, 26th and 31st respectively, all of which were more congruent with "serving all people".

The authors attribute the low priority given to serving disabled persons to a lack of political pressure exerted by disabled groups and to the existence of alternative delivery systems providing services to the disabled.

The disparity between the importance of serving the disabled in large versus small communities is explained as follows:

In larger municipalities, there are obviously a larger number of disabled persons. Consequently these people are more visible and may be more organized. Further, larger municipal parks and recreation departments may have greater human and financial resources to commit to this endeavour. (Edginton et al., 1978, p. 7)
A further result of the study which is of interest, was the low ranking given to .eisure counselling by recreation directors (actual 82; should be 78). Edginton et al. maintain this finding is congruent with the tendency of North American recreation departments to adhere to a direct service delivery model rather than an indirect service delivery model.

Edginton et al. (1978) recommended that municipal recreation agencies develop a philosophy pertaining to their own role in serving the handicapped and that further research be conducted to determine what role should be played by municipal recreation authorities in the provision of leisure services to special groups. Furthermore the authors suggested that disabled persons should organize into pressure groups and lobby for their own needs.

Kruger (1978) disagreed with Edginton et al. in their contention that leisure counselling was given a low priority because it was an indirect service. It was her opinion that municipal recreation departments, while stressing the direct functions, were becoming increasingly involved in indirect functions. She proposed that leisure counselling was given a low rating because it was a new concept, relatively unknown to practitioners in the field.

Further problems in the delivery of leisure services to handicapped persons were identified by Kruger.

> Ignorance of the abilities, limitations and needs of the handicapped is the most significant reason for special populations not achieving a high priority within Municipal Parks and Recreation Departments. Without formal education in, and exposure to disabled persons, practitioners tend to overlook special populations as a viable segment of their communities. Until the negative attitudes, feelings of inadequacy and prejudices of many practitioners are altered to a positive approach, little progress will be made in the special program area. (Kruger, 1978, p. 11).

22

100 Sec. 10

Kruger felt that change amongst recreation practitioners as a group must come from within, that those practitioners in recreation departments which provided special services must educate practitioners in recreation departments not serving special groups.

According to Evans (1978) a major problem in offering or improving services for handicapped is the "numbers game". Recreation departments frequently must justify operating budgets to elected Municipal Councils and Recreation Boards or Committees on the basis of numbers of participants in programs. Evans advocated the establishment of an alternative system of accountability based on the kind of effects the recreation services had on the participants.

# SELECTED SURVEYS ON RECREATION FOR THE HANDICAPPED IN CANADA

#### The Hunt Survey - 1969

Hunt conducted a survey of organizations which "as a sole or major function" (p. 39) served handicapped persons in Alberta. Ninety-two organizations serving 19,550 disabled persons responded, including residential and hospital settings, associations, schools and workshops. Seventy-four of these organizations sponsored recreation programs with a total of 8,570 disabled persons participating.

> Multiple reasons were given for not engaging in recreational activity offered. Reasons included: members attend community functions; difficulty in transporting members; lack of motivation, interest; members not physically capable of participating. The primary reason, however, was that planning recreation was a secondary, often minor function of many organizations which appeared to concentrate all thei afforts on medical treatment, education, vocational training or coordination of services. (Hunt, 1969, p. 12)

and a second second to a second second

Overall, facilities did not seem to present a great problem. The organizations used 422 facilities, a mean of 4.6 per organization, and only 39 instances of facilities desired but not available were reported. The major problems with facilities presented in decreasing order of incidence were: lack of space, rental cost, and lack of transportation.

Hunt wrote:

If recreation programs provided through organizations for the disabled are to be expanded it appears that the use of community facilities will be necessary. (1969, p. 22)

Hunt went on to caution that an increase in the use of community facilities might increase existing problems.

Participation with outside groups of non-disabled persons occurred regularly in 11 organizations, occasionally in 37 organizations and never in 17 cases, while the incidence of regular or occasional interactions with other disabled groups were even less frequent. Hunt recommended that both types of 'outside participation' increase.

The most common sources of finances for recreation were contributions and government grants. Thirty-four of 61 respondents felt their budget was adequate. However, Hunt cautions against the inference that sufficient funds were available to provide adequate programs or to improve the quality of services.

A total of 448 staff persons were involved either full-time or part-time with recreation, an additional 60 seasonal staff were employed, and 1,208 volunteers were active.

Of the paid staff seven had university degrees in recreation, 35 had

other university degrees and 51 had some specialized training in recreation. Inservice training was conducted for paid staff in 23 organizations, for volunteers in 15 organizations.

#### The Witt Survey - 1973

As a result of a request by Recreation Canada an investigation of recreation for special groups was undertaken by P. Witt, Professor, Department of Recreology, The University of Ottawa.

> ... the commissioned study was intended to help delineate the major barriers to service that exist across Canada along with some suggestions for potential means of overcoming those barriers. (1973, p. 1)

The final document included questionnaire data from municipalities and from institutions and agencies serving the handicapped with separate surveys of recreation services provided by the Canadian Mental Health Association, the Canadian YMCA and YWCA, and of services funded by the federal Opportunities for Youth (O.F.Y.) project and by the Local Initiatives Program (L.I.P.) A number of recommendations for improving recreation services were made.

#### Results of the Municipality Survey

By definition the term municipality included:

... all kinds of recreation services which are governmentally sponsored at the local level. Specifically these might include a city, town, Village, borough, rural, municipality township, improvement district or municipal district. (Witt, 1973, 8)

Communities with a population of under 1,000 persons were excluded. The objectives stated for the municipal survey were:

> How many municipalities have recreation services specifically oriented to the needs of the handicapped.

- 2. In those that offer services, what is the extent of service with respect for group served, budget and staff commitments.
- To what extent do municipal recreation departments cooperate with other agencies to provide services.
- 4. What are the greatest barriers to increasing service (Witt, 1973, p. 10)

A written questionnaire distributed by mail was used as the assessment device. The mean rate of return at 28% was extremely low; the Alberta return rate was 75%, while all other provinces had return rates of less than 40%.

With 21.9% of the respondents reportedly offering services to the disabled or assisting financially or with facilities, Witt hypothesized that municipalities with services for the handicapped were more likely to respond to the survey and on this basis proposed that a 13% rate of serving the handicapped was a more realistic estimate.

Of the 145 municipalities providing services to the handicapped the majority served the mentally handicapped (125) followed by the physically handicapped (95), the learning disabled (80), psychiatric patients (51), the deaf (44), and the blind (43).

By far the most frequent type of service was one of sponsoring programs in conjunction with local associations or agencies while the second most prevalent service was provision of free facilities with other groups providing the program; 105 communities were involved in the former, 86 in the latter. Only 44 of the 145 respondents sponsored programs independently. Roughly a third of municipalities provided paid leadership and roughly one-third provided transportation.

Less than 20% of responding communities had conducted surveys to reveal any or all of the following: the location and number of handicapped persons; the recreation opportunities of handicapped persons; the recreation needs of handicapped persons.

D

The data showed that 55% of communities with recreation programs for the handicapped allocated 0% of their program and staff budgets to specific programs for the handicapped, with the remaining communities with programs allocating 1% to 5% of these budgets specifically for the handicapped. Estimating 17% of the population to be handicapped, Witt concluded that the handicapped as a group received a disproportionately small portion of municipal recreation agency budgets.

Only 2% of the communities surveyed had written  $\mu$  \_cies dealing with recreation for the handicapped. Meanwhile, 14% had restrictions on facility usage by handicapped persons.

Of the 145 communities with programs for the handicapped there were 23 reports of full-time staff employed on a year-round basis, 47 reports of part-time full-year or full-time part-year staff and 47 reports of having volunteers involved.

In communities with populations of 1,000 to 10,000 only 14% reported having recreation services for handicapped persons. The most important problem for communities with programs for the handicapped was lack of an adequate budget, while for communities without programs, it was lack of an expressed need.

Interpreting the open ended comments at the end of the questionnaires Witt expressed the view that rural municipalities were particularly troubled by transportation problems. However, this is not clearly apparent from the data presented. Summing the first, second and third most important problems of communities with populations of 1,000 to 10,000 for which provincial or federal aid was desired, transportation ranked fourth of nine for those with programs and eighth of nine for those without programs.

In addition to the problems of inadequate personnel, a lack of barrier free facilities, the difficulty in contacting handicapped people and the lack of requests by or on behalf of the handicapped, Witt cited the main reason programs were not offered was that of insufficient numbers of handicapped people in a community to justify specific programs.

A number of municipalities made suggestions on how recreation services for the handicapped could be improved. These suggestions included: a national survey to discover who the handicapped are, where they are and what services they need; an increase in government involvement particularly in external funding and the coordination of services; public awareness campaigns regarding the problems and needs of the handicapped; and an increased number of persons trained at university, college and inservice levels.

Regarding the types of services provided, Witt concluded that very few communities offered only totally segregated programs, and few communities offered both segregated and integrated programs "... so that all handicapped individuals had opportunities to participate..." (p. 95).

Witt wrote:

... The greatest number of communities offered no special recreation services for the handicapped. These communities (the majority were small) integrated their handicapped community members totally into existing recreation programs. Many communities felt that integration was necessary to the individual's sense of belonging. They often provided extra leadership to programs which served a large number of handicapped individuals but on the whole did not provide any special recreation services for the handicapped. (1973, p. 95)

Other municipalities aided groups or institutions for the handicapped by providing facilities and equipment, consulting services and volunteer training programs.

Regarding the future provision of services, Witt assessed the situation

thus;

Many communities stated that they would be willing to set up recreation programs for the handicapped if they felt there was a need or if handicapped groups requested such a program. It would appear that many communities need a push or encouragement before they will set up recreation programs for the handicapped. (1973, p. 96)

While some small communities expressed the opinion that recreation for the handicapped was too costly for small communities, Witt judged the lack of need as the basic reason why services were not offered in small communities. Thus the recommendation for need assessment surveys was made. "With a large proportion of Canada's communities below 10,000 in population, clearly assessing the role of municipal government authorities in recreation services for the handicapped must be a priority" (Witt, 1973, p. 98).

### Comments on the Witt Survey and the AABRD Report

The Alberta Advisory Board on Recreation for the Disabled (AABRD) released a separate report of the data which had been collected in Alberta for the Witt study. This contained information from the institution, agency and municipal authority questionnaires.

Witt claimed that a 75% return rate was achieved in Alberta; according to the AABRD the return rate was only 50%, of which a further 10% of the questionnaires were returned completely blank, which would indicate an actual return rate of completed questionnaires of 40%. The major source of the discrepency appears in the number of questionnaires sent, the AABRD reported that 386 were sent, while Witt reported that 154 were sent. Witt included only municipalities with populations greater than 1,000 persons. The AABRD did not specify a minimum population, so possibly

and the second se

the difference in the figures is due to the inclusion by the AABRD of questionnaires sent to municipalities with populations of less than 1,000 ,persons.

It is difficult to understand why blank questionnaires were used in calculating the return rate. In the Witt study this was done only with the Alberta data. In any event, a national return rate of 28% is far below the 50% return rate which Babbie(1973) feels is necessary in survey research.

In both the Witt and AABRD reports there is a great deal of variability in the frequency of responses across the questionnaire. The failure of a number of respondents to answer certain questions indicates that some questions were difficult to answer or not applicable to all respondents. For instance, in the Witt report, of 145 communities with programs, the total of the three kinds of staff usage equalled 117. Given that the categories of staff usage are not mutually exclusive, it is reasonable to assume that more than 28 municipalities did not indicate the nature of their staffing arrangements. Similarly, in the AABRD report, of 20 respondents with programs, there were 13 responses on staffing arrangements. The variability in this case agems to be attributable to the classification of municipalities which provided facilities as communities with programs for the handicapped. Hence, because the recreation department did not provide the program, the question on how the program was staffed was not answered.

The results of the question on facility restrictions are interpreted very differently in the two reports. Restrictions are interpreted by Witt as rules or regulations which bar the handicapped from using the facilities, wheras the AABRD interpret restrictions as a question of

facility accessibility. The differences in interpretation might be attributable to ambiguity in the question.

According to the AABRD report, only eight Alberta municipalities responded to the question "If you offer recreation programs for the handicapped, what year did you begin such services?" Three municipalities began services between 1965 and 1969 whereas four municipalities began services between 1970 and 1973. The authors interpret this as "an increasing trend". Considering the few data points and the small change between the time periods there is insufficient data to support this interpretation.

The responses regarding problems to offering or improving recreation were ranked in order of importance in the Witt study. While this is intended to provide information on which problems are of the greatest significance to greatest number of departments, the data is somewhat unweildly. An additional problem with a ranked scale is that the distance between ranks is unknown. In other words it cannot be determined whether the first three ranks are critical problems whereas the remaining ranks are minor problems, or if only the first rank is a major problem and so on.

The AABRD report eliminated the ranking and used only the frequency with which each possible problem was reported. While somewhat easier to comprehend, at the same time information is lost from the data. The lack of adequately trained personnel was the most frequently reported problem for both those with and those without services for the handicapped. This was followed by a lack of adequate facilities and a lack of adequate budget for those without recreation services and by a lack of transportation, budget and facilities for those with recreation services.

In summary although there are limitations to the Witt study and the

AABRD report with regards to the data collection instrument and methods and the overall return rate, both publications play an important role in that they identify some the key is such must be considered in investigating the delivery of creation sector to handicapped persons through the municipal recreation authoricit

# SURVEY RESEARCH, QUESTIONNAIRE CONSTRUCTION AND INTERVIEW TECHNIQUES

## Survey Research

The three basic purposes of survey research have been identified by Babbie (1973) as description, explanation and exploration. Descriptive studies attempt only to describe some attributes of a population. Explanatory studies attempt to explain attributes. Exploratory studies attempt to expose elements of a topic for further study. Babbie notes that many surveys have more than one of these three objectives (p. 57).

Survey research designs may be cross-section, providing information about a population at one point in time or longitudinal, describing changes occurring in a population over time. Frequently researchers will attempt to uncover longitudinal trends by comparing results of a current study with those of past studies undertaken by other researchers (Babbie, 1973, p. 63). Furthermore, researchers may use research designs which attempt to approximate longitudinal data using a cross-sectional survey which may involve the recall of past events by subjects, comparisons across cohorts, or the logical interpretation of data. Each of these methods is subject to limitations (Babbie, 1973, pp. 65-66).

In addition to selecting a research design, a researcher must select a sampling technique. Generally, surveys are conducted on a sample of the population because costs and the logistics of administration preclude

surveying every member of the population (Babbie, 1973, pp. 73-74). Sampling methods are most commonly classified as probability sampling or nonprobability sampling. Probability sampling is generally favoured because it is an effective method of ensuring that the variation which exists in the population is adequately reflected in the sample. "A sample will be representative of the population from which it is selected, if all members of the population mays an equal chance of being selected in the sample" (Babbie, 1973, <u>1 is is accomplished through</u> random selection, a process which estimate the accuracy of survey findings based upon a body of knowledge which is known as probability theory (Babbie, 1973, p. 88).

Given that probability sampling is "accepted as superior" in survey research, Babbie notes that nonprobability methods of sampling are sometimes used.

> Occasionally it may be appropriate for the researcher to select his sample on the basis of his own knowledge of the population, its elements, and the nature of his research aims. (1973, p. 106)

This is known as a purposive or udgmental method of sampling.

## Questionnaire Construction

Questionnaires may include both questions and statements. The latter have frequently been used with agree/disagree options in the measurement of attitudes, a procedure formalized by Likert (Babbie, 1973, p. 140). According to Babbie both open-ended questions and closed-ended questions have advantages and disadvantages. Open-ended questions may be more difficult to code and may result in irrelevant answers but also provide the respondent the freedom to given answers which the researcher may not

۴.

have considered. Closed-ended questions in which the respondent must select an answer from a provided list are easier to process, "... however the researcher's structuring of responses may overlook some important responses" (Babbie, 1973, p. 141). Therefore, closed-ended questions .should include response categories which are exhaustive and mutually exclusive (Babbie, 1973, p. 141).

Further guidelines in questionnaire construction recommended by Babbie include: making items short and precise, including only items which are relevant, avoiding phrasing items negatively, avoiding 'doublebarreled' questions to which respondents may agree to one part but not another, and avoiding biased items or terms such as those which might identify an attitude or position as held by persons or agencies which are restigous or which many persons view negatively (Babbie, 1973, pp. 141-144).

Babbie (1973) feels that there will always be an order effect in questionnaires. Rather than trying to eliminate the effect by randomizing, he feels that in most cases the researcher is in a better position to interpret the order effect when a single order is used (pp. 148-150). Generally written questionnaires are best ordered with the most interesting questions presented first, while in interview surveys, easily answered, nonthreatening questions should be given first to aid the interviewer in establishing a rapport with the respondent.

Kahn and Cannell (1957) stress that interviews may be purely information getting or they may attempt to bring about changes in the respondents. In either case, the questions should be asked in a vocabulary usable by the respondent at an information level which is appropriate. To deal with problems of information level, definitions or explanations may be included. The interviewer may also ask the type of question to which the respondent

÷., .

34

、二日になるのでのです。

really does not know an answer, but about which he or she will be able to express an opinion.

#### Interview Techniques

In a book entitled <u>The Dynamics of Interviewing</u>, R.L. Kahn and C.F. Cannell present a wealth of information about using interviews to collect data. The following 2 paragraphs summarize some of the ideas they have presented.

Prior to conducting an interview an introduction is in order. The introduction should explain the purpose of the interview and how it relates to the respondent's interests and goals as well a ntended use of the information. The respondent should be made to stand what is expected of him or her. The interviewer should tell the respondent as much as he or she can without negating the purpose of the interview.

During the interview it is important to give the respondent a chance to get out what he or she is saying. The interviewer must pay attention to what is actually said and avoid projecting his or her own thoughts to the respondent. The interviewer should not respond evaluatively to what is said or the respondent is likely to become defensive or will tend to avoid opinions which might conflict with those of the fateration C. To ensure adequate communication, it is important to the interviewer be perceived as an empathetic individual. Purveying ronjudgmental interest in the respondent makes it acceptable for him or her to give a wide range of answers. For example, the interviewer may say "A number of people feel this way. How about you? Do you have this problem?" An insightful summarization by the interviewer may be in order following an inadequate expression of complicated thoughts. This will ensure the respondent that he or she has been understood and will encourage him or her to go on.

AND DESCRIPTION

Babbie (1973) stresses that interviewers should appear neat and clean and be dressed in a fashion similar to the persons being interviewed. The interviewer must be familiar with the questionnaire to the extent that the exact words for each question are delivered flawlessly, like "an actor reading lines in a play" (Babbie, 1973, p. 174).

It is often difficult to know how answers to open-ended questions will be coded until part or all of the data has been collected, therefore responses to open-ended questions should be recorded exact as given. "Sometimes, the respondent may be so inarticulate that the verbal response is too ambiguous to permit interpretation" (Babbie, 1973, p. 175). In such cases, if the intent of the response is clear to the interviewer as a result of gentures of facial expressions, the interviewer may record this information margines beside the actual comment. Uncertainty in answering questions of margines may also be recorded in the margin.

It should be anticipated that an interviewer will at times be required to probe for an answer. This will occur occasionally when an answer is inappropriate and more frequently with open-ended questions where elaboration of an initial comment is desirable. Babbic emphasizes that probes must be neutral so as not to affect the subsequent response (p. 176). He recommends silence with a pencil poised in hand as an effective probe. Written probes may be included next to questions where a need for them is anticipated, to provide the advantage of well thought out probes which will remain neutral across interviews.

#### CHAPTER III

#### METHODOLOGY

1

## DEVELOPMENT OF WRITTEN AND ORAL QUESTIONNAIRES

#### Oral Questionnaire

The questions were developed over a one year period based on issues raised in the literature with the input of a number of people with special knowledge in the area. Specifically, assistance was obtained from a graduate student in adapted physical education with experience in community implementation of recreation programs, a preventative social services worker in a community of target size, a consultant with the Recreation for Special Groups Section of the Province of Alberta's Recreation and Parks Department and the former head of that section, and from an internationally known lecturer and author in the area of integration in recreation. The questionnaire was pilot tested in a community of the appropriate size and revisions adding to the clarity of the questions were suggested by the recreation director acting as subject. (See Appendix B )

An answer recording form was constructed in an attempt to anticipate some of the more probable answers. (See Appendix C )

#### Written Questionnaire

The written questionnaire was developed from the literature and from some of the concepts presented in the informe on-giving parts of the oral questionnaire. The initial twelve questions were in the form of statements to which the subject was to respond on a four point scale, agreeing or disagreeing with the option of doing either strongly.

The final question involved rating eleven items on a three point scale as major problems, mimor problems or as not a problem. (See Appendix D )

#### SAMPLING

The community size of 4,000 to 10,000 persons was chosen. The basis of this decision is reviewed on page 1 . A list of Alberta municipalities of that size was obtained from the Canada Census (1976). The computer mailing list of recreation directors in Alberta used by the Province of Alberta Department of Recreation and Parks, Recreation for Special Groups Section was cross-referenced with the Canada Census list. Because the concept of a town or population center was central to the study, counties were excluded from the list as were regional recreation authorities when more than one recreation  $c^{-1}$  ector was listed in a town. Thus the characteristics of the sampling frame were:

- recreation director, superintendent or community service director
- responsible for recreation services in a population center of 4,000 to 10,000 persons
- present on the mailing list of the Recreation for Special Groups Section

Three communities were subsequently struck from the list. One of these was the pilot study community; another was judged unacceptable on the basis of location on the provincial border, hence potential to be subject to the influence of policies or programs of the neighboring province. A third community was excluded for the sake of expediency as the distance would have resulted in high costs and lengthy travel time. The final list contained fifteen communities.

A contact letter was sent to each community requesting an interview (See Appendix E ). Six recreation directors replied affirmatively and interviews were set up by telephone. One director replied negatively and further declined over the telephone with the justification that she was

vacating the position within the week. The eight directors who did not reply to the letter were contacted by telephone. All agreed to be interviewed and appointments were made.

The data was collected over a thirty day period with a maximum of two interviews conducted on any one day.

#### PROCEDURES

An estimate of the population served by the recreation department was obtained from the subject.

The oral questionnaire was administered using the recording form (See Appendix C ) and a portable cassette tape recorder for data collection. Diagrams were used to add clarity to questions nine and ten (See Appendix A). Subsequent to the interview, respondents completed the written questionnaire. They were requested before starting to avoid abstentions if at all possible. Finally, the subjects were asked if they would like to re results of the study.

#### ANALYSIS OF DATA

#### Oral Questionnaires

The tapes were reviewed in blocks of one to three questions across subjects with responses and comments transcribed onto the answer recording forms. Responses for each question by each subject were then placed on individual sheets of paper. Subsequently, to clarify the tabulated responses, selected comments that reflected prevalent positions were included; other comments that were unique or of particular interest were also added.

## Written Questionnaires

S

The results of the written questionnaires were put into tabular form including frequencies of response at each level and, with the exception of question twelve, the percentage of responses at each of four points.

ł

1.)

#### CHAPTER IV

#### RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### ORAL QUESTIONS

The results will be presented for each question followed by a discussion of those results. The discussion will include opinions. For the convenience of the reader the actual question is presented prior to the results. The words in parenthesis are instructions for the interviewer in the form of probes which were administered when necessary, and reminders regarding how the interviewer was to proceed. The questions are sequenced in the order in which they were administered.

# Determining Recreation Needs in the Community

How do you determine or keep in touch with the needs of people in your community? (advertise and wait for a response, survey questionnaires, rely on requests or complaints, public meetings)

All 14 of the recreation directors reported that they used at least one of five different methods for determining the recreation needs of the citizens in their community. Table 1 indicates the frequency with which each method was used.

Table 1. Methods Used to Determine Recreation Needs

Rely on Requests	Advertise Programs and Wait for a Response	Survey Question- naires	Organize Public Meetings	Meet with Groups,or Associations		
9	5	8	7	9		

Survey questionnaires had been used frequently in the context of a master plan. In some instances meetings with local groups occurred regularly, while in others it was only upon request.

Most of the recreation directors utilized a variety of methods to determine leisure-time needs. Survey questionnaires and public meetings were methods which had been tried only once or twice in most communities rather than being used as an ongoing component in the process of determining needs. The popular methods of relying on requests and meeting with local groups to determine recreation needs can be and in some cases have been used to the advantage of handicapped persons but are also fraught with limitations. Specifically, a recreation service is not provided unless requested, yet a number of factors make a request by a handicapped person or the family of that person unlikely. Some of the factors which may be preventing requests for service include a lack of knowledge of the need for recreation and the possible recreational activities in which handicapped persons could participate, as well as a reticence to make their needs known due to the very fact that a handicapping condition exists.

3.1

In order to break this self-perpetuating system of \_\_\_\_\_\_ on a change agent needs to be introduced. Likely change agents include special education personnel employed by school boards, local social services employed and local associations for the handicapped. These groups, singly or in concert, may act to articulate the recreation needs of handicarped persons to the local recreation department, to assist the recreation department in communicating both the importance of recreation and the program possibilities, and to foster the development of an harmonious relationship between employees of the recreation department and the handicapped individual.

#### Requests for Recreation Services

To the best of your knowledge have there been any requests of your department for recreation services by handicapped individuals or their families or friends?

I'm thinking of people who are blind or deaf, slow learners, mentally retarded, wheelchair users, or people with artificial limbs.

<u>If yes</u>: What was the nature of the request(s)?

About how many requests would there have been, say in the past year?

For what types of disabilities?

The directors recalled a total of 28 requests for service in the past year ( $\overline{x} = 2$ , range: 0 - 6) for persons who were mentally handicapped, physically handicapped, hearing impaired or blind. Of these requests 13 were for children, three for teenagers, six for adults and the remainder for a combination of age groups.

Over the course of the interviews, nine additional programs that were currently in operation were identified. These programs were not initially pinpointed as requests by the recreation directors. Of these programs four involved children, one involved adults and the age group served in those remaining was not determined.

In 14 instances a group was mentioned as the source of a request for service.

Of the 28 recalled requests and the 9 additional programs mentioned, 18 incidents involved the mentally retarded, 4 involved the physically handicapped while 13 incidents were a combination of these two groups.

California Cartalana

Other recalled requests and programs included one for the hearing impaired and one for the visually impaired.

# Responses to Requests for Recreation Services

Ż

Could we consider each disal lity separately?

A. First of all, the physically disabled, were you able to help them out? (Repeat for: B) mentally retarded; C) Others)

<u>Probes</u>: Were they served in the regular program? Was a special program organized? Did you feel that services could not be offered at that time?

Did you refer them to someone else?

The responses to requests for services, including those operating programs that were not identified as requests are classified by handicapped group in Table 2. The category Mentally Handicapped and Physically Handicapped reflects the vagueness on the part of the respondents as to the actual impairments of the persons in question and also the tendency to relegate 'the handicapped' into one category for service provision regardless of etiology. Given the small numbers of handicapped persons in a small community, the heterogeneity of a group may be more pronounced than in a large population centre where, for example, severely mentally "" handicapped, moderately mentally handicapped, the physically handicapped, the learning disabled, and the hearing impaired may be grouped separately with further divisions made according to age.

Table 2 . Responses to Requests for Recreation Services and Recreation Services Provided

. .

	ī		1						T		<del></del>					
		Totals	• 15	11	6	J		Ś		c	7:		1		-4	37
pa	Other Handiogon	Other Handicaps		(Visually Tmnatrad)							1		-			2
and Kecreation Services Provided	Mentally Handicapped and Physically Handicapped		ñ	4	1		4	-	•			-				13
and Kecreat	Physicąlly Handicapped		n	1	1		<b>I</b>			ŗ		I				4
	Mentally Handicapped	8	>	ę	2		1			1		I		1		18
	Responses to Service Requests/Services Provided	A. Regular Program	•	B. Special{Program	C. No Service	D. No Service But	Planning to Serve	E. Reonlar Droctor		to Special	F. Special Program	turtaily; Changed to Regular	G. Referral to Othos			Totals

45

ī

#### Comments

How do you feel it worked out for all concerned? Did they find another service? Did they have to go to a larger community? (Repeat for: B) the mentally retarded; C) others)

Comments regarding special programs

- 001 its worked out really well
- 002 its worked out fairly well
- 003 it worked out well for them
- 004 the kids love it, but we don't have the money or staff to get into one on one programming
- 005 it didn't work out there were not enough participants, so we tried an integrated program which worked out ok. We had some transportation problems.
- 006 "I think that its worked out fairly well. There are some of those children that are now starting to go to public swimming that are feeling a little more at ease. Now, after being in the pool, they'll go down with their families. I think generally it worked to build up their confidence and to give them some swimming skills they couldn't obtain in that normal lesson under 10 lessons because you need that one to one or two-to-one ratio."

The recreation directors' comments on special programs were generally brief and mildly positive in nature. It is difficult to guage how well programs were actually running by these remarks. First of all, it is assumed the respondents have an internalized rating scale against which they judge the success of the program. The criteria used would most likely vary in degree of similarity to the kind of criteria which a professional external program evaluator would use. For instance, the

Comments include summarized remarks and verbatim remarks. The verbatim remarks are distinguished by quotation marks.

recreation director may feel the program is successful if no complaints are received and if the program stays within its budget. While setting up objectives may help in providing a guage against which the program may be judged, by the same token the recreation director may form his or her opinion on the program independent of the objectives. Should the recreation director be knowledgeable about the key factors which make a successful special program, to apply this knowledge, he or she must also be familiar with how the program is operating on a day to day basis.

Comment 005 reflects knowledge on the part of the recreation director regarding what went on; it reflects the application of at least one simple yardstick (number of participants) to measure the success of the program; it reflects the ability to adapt to solve a perceived problem; and it reflects a willingness to admit a further problem existed.

In the case of comment 003 the recreation department did not seem to be very involved in the program aside from providing facilities and some consulting. Thus it is probable the recreation director had very little information on which to judge how well the program was going.

The mildly supportive but very brief comment 002 may either indicate a lack of knowledge about the program, or an inability to articulate what the problems were, or an unwillingness to expose difficulties. By comparison in comment 004 the director seemingly intimates limitations on the quality of the programs. Initially the positive aspect (the children's enjoyment) of the program is cited, but rather than articulating the difficulties the department faced in improving the quality of the program further comment was directed towards what could not be done, in the director's opinion. Thus, because the director had chosen a solution to a problem which was unfeasable or unattainable, the prognosis for changes

in the program does not appear hopeful.

The recreation director offering comment 006 displays a thorough understanding of what the segregated program offers, namely a better chance to learn skills through a more intense instructional technique, applied over a longer duration. Also apparent is an understanding of the primary goal of a segregated program, providing skills enabling a handicapped person to move into an integrated setting, and the knowledge that this goal is actually being realized, that the handicapped participants are using their skills in open recreational time.

# Comments regarding integration into regular programs

- 007 it worked out ok; she enjoyed it, we put her in a younger age group because she was small
- 008 "They took part at first in the regular program but they were slowing down the entire group so the instructors made a special time for them to come in ahead and work."
- 009 the individual enjoyed it and the others accepted him most of the other children didn't notice the handicap.
- 010 it worked out well but supervision was a problem. "There's not en 3h staffing for those type of people .... We can't have c. supervisor watching one individual and have 20 or 30 that they are responsible for at the same time."
- 011 "Its worked out really well, the only problem being that sometimes the parents of the retarded children didn't allow the children to come. The success of the program depended on six to ten children coming so we'd put so many in each group."
- 012 its worked out pretty good; they just compete at their own level. "Its very difficult to keep our numbers of people up. We don't have access to that many people."
- 013 its worked out fairly well
- Ol4 "At first I think the child had difficulties to get accustomed to the fast pace of all the other kids and the other kids kind of shied away and said, 'Who's he?'
  ... But once the coaches kept him playing and get them informed and having little parties where the kids were involved and he'd be there, and after awhile he was just another kid."

والمعاود والمتعارية والمستحد والمتعار والمتعار والمستحد المتعار والمتعارية

- 015 there were no problems; the child and the family knew the coach. The coach must be aware of the problem and willing to work with them.
- 016 -"Within the playground program we've tried about three different ways. Two years ago the group came to us and wanted to integrate. At that time the only way we could work out an integration ... they had staff that was handling the playground program and we had staff that was handling the playground program .... We wanted to integrate but they only wanted to integrate on a part-time basis because they have special activities ... so we integrated them on a one day basis, one afternoon a week and we found that it was good for a start, like I can't say it was a total failure, but it wasn't successful enough. What happened was the kids on the playground that normally attended went to their leader ... and the handicapped children knew their leader better so they called for their leader. They were on the same playground but the programs weren't mixed. It was kind of a start. So the next year we decided we couldn't do it on a part-time basis, we had to do it more on a full-time basis. So, we had a leader with some extra knowledge in that area on one playground and that didn't work. They still differentiated the leader and stuck in their own groups. So this year what we're doing is that we have I guess just gone together in funds (with the local association for the hendicapped) and leaders have taken a playground leaders' course together and now we're just going to run it as an integrated program. Whatever area a child is from they
- 017 "Up to now they've basically been served in existing programs but this summer we're looking at setting up some special aquatic programs for them .... I think its worked out acceptably so far but I think it needs more work done and more development and expansion of services."
- 018 Interviewer: How did you feel it worked out for all concerned?

will hopefully go to that playground."

- Respondent: Oh it was excellent, excellent. The reaction from the parents' point of view and the instructor's point of view, even the parents of the other kids; it worked out great. And, in fact there has been times they have brought out other kids for a period of time and tried to work them into the program, too. Its worked out really well. We were quite pleased with it.
- Interviewer: So the other kids that came from the community, they didn't end up being in the program? Do you know anything about that?

Respondent: You mean did it eliminate people?

- Interviewer: Well, you said they brought out other kids and tried to work them in the program. Did that mean it didn't work out?
- Respondent: Oh no, it worked out, but it was just that they brought them out and got them into that kind of situation so that they could then take them into the specialized areas in Z (a larger community) where they have the equipment and things for the handicapped in programs in other institutions. And they would bring them out here for a period of time until an opening was available that they could get them into something in the other schools.

Respondent: Yes.

Comment 010 typifies an ill-conceived attempt at providing an integrated program in that a handicapped individual was placed in a program lacking adequate supports. A complete absence of volunteers, staff not trained to work with handicapped persons, and an unrealistic staffparticipant ratio were some of the factors which ultimately led to difficulties in this particular situation. A good integrated program is unlikely to occur without extra effort and some extra expenditure.

Comment 018, while reflecting the common occurrence of handicapped persons leaving home communities for educational reasons, also raises some questions about where a child should be getting his or her recreation. If a child is transported on a daily basis to a neighbouring community for education because special help is available there, why should the child also have to seek recreational experiences in the larger centre? The home community has a responsibility to these children which does not terminate when external schooling is sought. By providing this kind of service the recreation department can help an isolated group of children make friends in their own community. The fact that a number of children had at one time been in this program could have acted to cue the 50

ないでは、二人の大学の一人

recreation department to carefully examine the need for some service for the handicapped in that community.

Comments 014 and 015 are instances of positive feedback on integrating handicapped children into organized sport. The child referred to in comment 014 was mentally handicapped whereas in comment 015 the child was hearing impaired. In both cases individuals volunteering as coaches were responsible for integrating the children. These comments identify some important components for successful integration into sport. First of all the coach must be aware of the individual's capabilities and have some idea of the limitations the handicap imposes on the child as well as how the role of the coach may be affected. Given this understan.ing, the coach must then be willing to proceed, accepting the child as part of the team, providing the child with suitable coaching, providing the non-handicapped participants with information about the handicapped child, giving the handicapped child adequate opportunity to participate in the game situation and finally, promoting social interaction amongst teammates.

Comment 016 is a well stated example of the kind of process a recreation department may have to go through to achieve an integrated program that works. The recreation director not only has an idea of what kinds of things should be happening in an integrated program, but also is able to judge that the program is not operating satisfactorily and, most important, stays with the program attempting to solve the problems by applying seemingly appropriate solutions. It is most important to note that the recreation department is acting in concert with a local association for the handicapped. In addition to contributing funds, the local association had also acted as a resource and a resource finder for the recreation department. Although not mentioned specifically in comment 016, other functions a local association could be expected to perform in this kind of situation include assisting the recreation department to formulate objectives and monitoring the success of the program.

# Advertisement - How the Handicapped or Their Friends Identify Recreation Opportunities

How does a disabled person or the family of a disabled person know about recreation opportunities for them in your community?

The frequencies for various methods of program advertisement are presented in Table 3. Respondents mentioned a mean of 2.5 methods with a range of 1 to 4. Four of the 14 subjects reported that advertising they had done had stated that all persons were welcome, one mentioned specifically a program for 'all handicapped', and in one case special fees for the handicapped were listed with the programs handicapped persons could attend. In three instances the local association was mentioned in the advertising as a sponsor or co-sponsor of the program

Table 3 . Frequencies of Advertisement Methods

Newspaper	Radio	Local Associations or Groups	Brochures (recreation centre, churches, schools)	Others .
13	9	5	5	3 - letters - community directory - visibility * of facility

with the name of a contact person given.

# Comments Regarding Advertising

- 019 "We stipulate that our programs are open to all ages and all groups and nobody is discriminated against."
- 020 "It has been indicated that the programs offered are open for all citizens of the community. We have not segregated whether they were for handicapped or normal people."
- 021 "I've made direct contact with them. We've written letters to them informing them, and what I've found is that they're not ready to join the public. They're still embarrassed by their handicap ... I was going to come up with programs including them in the gym with wheelchairs ... mix them in with the normal program and just make the game allowable for both but they didn't come out at all."
- 022 Respondent: You might feel as though you have a handicap or like you don't know how to swim or you're having trouble socializing or whatever, don't worry about your handicaps whether its physical, mental, social.

Interviewer: You say that right in your flyer?

Respondent: Oh yeah. Well, really what's the difference? .... It really doesn't make a difference unless, unless .... I shouldn't say that. It does make some bit of difference. Especially if they are really physically handiomapped because there's just no way that we have the transportation or the number of people ...".

Interviewer: You mean you think there's a lot of problems?

Respondent: Yeah.

- 023 "Our regular programs are advertised and the fees listed for them specify the groups that can attend. And we usually list a fee for adults, for teens and senior citizens and another one for the handicapped so the handicapped know that program is open to them."
- 024 The local association for the handicapped gets the names of handicapped people from the health unit and contacts them regarding the recreation program.
   "One of their problems is they don't get as much participation as they would like from the families they contact."
- 025 "I think that basically the facility here around us points out that the facilities are available and its just a matter of contacting the recreation department."
- 026 "Really we haven't put much attention to that at all and really for them its more a matter if they want to participate in a program that is of interest to them they would have to contact us. We really don't do anything or haven't done anything to really go out and contact families of handicapped people or anything like that."

The majority of recreation departments surveyed actively advertised their programs. The existence of the facility, suggested in comment 025, and word of mouth advertising, were not effective enough methods of advertising to satisfy most of the recreation directors.

Obviously advertising particulars relative to the handicapped are dependent on the kind of programs which are offered in each community. In advertising regular programs 'all welcome' statements are appropriate but may be of limited effectiveness in encouriging the participation of handicapped persons. The same set of reasons which block the expression of recreation needs as presented on page 42 may also limit the response of handicapped persons to 'all welcome' advertising. Thus the recreation

G

department should not expect many handicapped persons to register in regular program's merely on an 'all welcome' invitation.

The least 'restrictive environment which could be expected of many handicapped persons initially, is the integrated program with supports (Arsenault and Wall, 1979). However, advertising one or two specific programs as 'integrated programs' may well act to limit the response of handicapped persons owing to the heterogeneity of the population in terms of age, handicap, interests, and skill. In addition, non-handicapped persons may tend to avoid these particular programs. While integrated programs should go ahead and car be advertised as such, the recreation departments should be well advised of the limitations of this approach.

In keeping with the philosophy that handicapped people should have a choice about the kind of recreational activities in which they participate, small community recreation departments would do well to advertise a general support clause offering the handicapped the opportunity to get into a variety of the regular programs and assuring the availability of special supports when needed. Two key considerations in taking this approach are illustrated in comment 022. First of all, the recreation department must have determined how to provide specific support services. This might include obtaining information on the operation of the local handibus or recruiting several volunteer drivers, and identifying volunteers capable and willing of providing some support in particular program areas if needed. Secondly the department should plan for the possibility of requests by persons unable to participate at this level, persons who may require a specialized program.

The advertisement of segregated or integrated programs as co-sponsored with a local association for the handicapped including the name of a contact person in the local association was an advertisement strategy

identified by several recreation directors — note to the effect that the local association is dedicated to helpin, — andicapped people upgrade their skills most likely would encourage handicapped persons to contact the association and in addition could serve to enhance and clarify the role of the association for the public.

Direct contact, although given negative play in comments 021 and 024 should not be discarded as an unviable advertisement method.

Listing a special fee for the handicapped in order that they know which programs are 'open for them' as outlined in comment 023 is a questionable approach, in that it actively imposes limits on what handicapped persons are 'allowed' to do. More desirable approaches include advertising an offer of financial assistance to all who have difficulty paying or ensuring the availability of financial assistance through the local asso; ion for the handicapped.

In summary, the majority of recreation departments could be more actively involved in promoting the participation of handicapped community members and benefit from increasing the sophistication of their advertis-

# Staff Discussions Regarding Service Provision for the Handicapped

\* j

...

Have there been any discussions within your department about offering services to special populations which were not a direct result of a request for service? <u>If yes</u>: What do you think led to this discussion? 4. What were the focal points of the discussion? Was there any sort of consensus, or any general areas of disagreement?

Nine respondents indicated that discussions with staff regarding

A De

service provision - handicapped had occurred in a situation not directly resulting from a request for service. The remaining five said no discussion had taken place.

Of those responding affirmatively, not all could recall the events or factors leading to the discussion, the focal points of discussion and the final outcome. Most subjects felt a consensus had been reached; there were no reports of disagreements.

Factors leading up to discussions were:

 $\Leftrightarrow$ 

	Fa	actors leading up to discussions were:
027	-	Janning (yearly plan, master plan) - 2 cases
028	-	inquiry by a board member - 1 case
029	-	seminars attended by staff - 1 case
030	-	a handicapped child coming to a facility with a group of non-handicapped children - 1 case
	Fo	cal points of discussions we ter
031	-	getting something going in the pool for the handicapped
032	-	changes to make facilities more accessible
033	-	fees and charges
034	-	the problems of programming for the handicapped
035	-	problems in integrating the handicapped
	Th	e following were reported points of consensus within individual
recr	eat	ion departments:
036	-	funds and personnel to offer programs is lacking
037	-	there is not enough demand for service
038	-	special services were available in a large population centre nearby
039	-	service to the handicapped must be provided within regular programs because of limited personnel
040	ľ	lower fees should be offered to the undicapped
041	-	the greatest problem is finding out what is needed

57

1.1
- 042 its difficult to serve the handicapped as many go away to school
- 043 .- the staff were sympathetic to helping the handicapped (hence supportive of existing program)
- 044 the staff didn't think they had adequate manpower or "
  training to deal with having the handicapped integrated in the pool or playground programs: they didn't think the "normal" and handicapped "fit together".

The wide variety of responses to this question reflects the variety of topics which might arise for discussion in any recreation department. First of all, it is worthwhile to note that in more than one-third of the cases no staff discussions had occurred. There was some variability in the kind of staffing arrangements in the different recreation departments, but in only one instance did a recreation director cite the basis of an absence of discussion as the fact that there was no permanent staff other than the recreation director.

The fact that seminars attended by staff, comment 029, had led to discussions in only one department is a point of particular interest given the number of workshops and conferences related to recreation for the handicapped which have been held in Alberta in recent years.

Only three of the instances of consensus within the departments, as indicated in comments 039, 040 and 043, could be implemented as plans of action. In one case the staff wanted to serve the handicapped in the regular program, in another case lower fees were to be offered to the handicapped and in the third case the staff wanted to continue the program which was operating.

In the remaining six cases the results of the staff discussions regarding the provision of services to the handicapped and not lead to specific actions. The departmental consensus only went as far as agreeinguint there was a problem; how to solve a problem was not part of ű

their discussions.

**T** :

Comment 044 arose out of a situation where an integrated program had run into difficulties seemingly as a result of inadequate program planning and a lack of staff training. Consequently there was negative feedback from the staff members. This illustrates the danger of recreation departments plunging into integrated programs if they are ill prepared. The bandwagon approach to promoting integrated.programs may have a motivational effect on the recreation department but also may encourage the department to proceed without ensuring that the necessary planning and staff development has occurred. An attempt at an integrated program which has a very negative result is bound to make the recreation department reluctant to try an integrated program again.

### Related Education and Experience of Recreation Staffs

Do you have any staff members with formal education or practical experience in the area of special populations?

If yes: What is the nature of their experience?

(<u>Probes</u>: teaching, coaching, advocate, **x** counselling, other)

With which disabled group or groups?

### Education Pertaining to Recreation for the Handicapped

Presented in Table 4 are the educational backgrounds of persons employed by the recreation departments surveyed. Any educational  $b\varepsilon$  ground pertaining to recreation for the handicapped, adapted physical education or special education was included.

Table 4 .	Educational Background of Recreational Staffs Related to	J.
	the Handicapped or Recreation for the Handicapped	

	Specialist Education (4 Years University)	Some College or University Education (1-2 Courses)	Workshops	No Education
Number of Recreation Departments	3	6 .	5 ·	3
Number of People with Related Education	3	7	•17 ·	
Positions of Persons with Related Education	l director l programmer l summer staff	5 directors 1 programmer 1 pool manager	1 director 2 programmers pool staff playground leaders	

As indicated in Table 4, three of the recreation departments had no staff with education pertaining directly to recreation for the handicapped while staff members in the remaining eleven departments had varying types of staff training. More than 27 people, including seven recreation directors and four program planners had educational experience related to recreation service provision for the handicapped. However, only 10 persons, six of whom were recreation directors, had received post secondary education related to recreation for the handicapped. Thus the majority of recreation staffs including recreation directors and program planners had only a minimum amount of exposure provided by workshops or no related educational experiences at all,

It is worthwhile to note that the reported educational experience reflect the recreation director's knowledge of past training of departmental staff members. This should be considered a measure of educational

attainments the recreation director is most likely to consider when planning, rather than an objective measure of the education of the recreation staffs involved. A number of the recreation directors were somewhat uncertain about the education of their staff members related to recreation for the handicapped. It should be a cause of concern that 50% of the recreation directors surveyed had never attended a seminar, workshop or course related to recreation for the handicapped.

Ideally the persons with the key responsibility for planning and administering recreation services, the recreation director and program planners, should have a minimum of one or two related college or university courses which would provide them with a general overview of various handicapping conditions, service delivery alternatives and some general information on adapting activities (CAHPER, 1979).

To undertake specific programs persons at the planning level and persons at the 'hands-on' level should both have the benefit of workshop training, although not necessarily the same workshop. For instance, if a recreation department would like to develop a swimming program for handicapped persons, the program planner, the pool manager and the assistant pool manager may attend the adapted aquatics session at the provincial aquatic workshop. Subsequently they may organize a local adapted aquatic workshop for the lifeguards, swimming instructors and volunteers working at their particular community pool, presenting the material they received at the provincial workshop and perhaps inviting a resource person to give a guest lecture.

The key point to be made about education is that both the administrative, supervisory staff and the front line sta f must have some specific educational background if the program is to work.

49

The people with administrative and supervisory responsibility for a program such as the recreation director, the program planner and in the preceding example the pool manager, must be well informed so that they can facilitate the setting up of the program and so that they can adequately supervise the front line staff. Of course the front line staff must be adequately informed about the persons they are working with, the program objectives, and suitable methods to achieve the objectives.

### Experience with Handicapped Persons in Recreation Settings

The types of experience which recreation staffs have had with handicapped persons are presented in Table 5. In some cases the recreation directors had difficulty in articulating exact details regard<sup>4</sup> of the number of staff members who had particular experiences, the handicapped population involved, and the nature of the experience.

	Teaching	Coaching	Other Experience	No Experience
Number of Departments with Experienced Staff Members	11	2	3	3
Number of Staff Members with Experience	721	Unknown	5	

Table 5. Frequency and Types of Recreation Experience of Recreation Staffs with Handicapped Persons

The most frequently cited type of experience was teaching, with more than 21 persons having that kind of experience. The number of staff members experienced in teaching particular handicapped populations were as follows: nine persons with the mentally handicapped, more than nine persons with the mentally handicapped and physically handicapped, one person with the hearing impaired and two persons for whom the population was unknown.

The coaching experience which was mentioned by two recreation directors had involved mentally handicapped persons. The number of staff members with coaching experience is unknown.

Of the five persons with other experience, in each case the nature of the experience varied. One individual had served as a volunteer in a games program for the physically handicapped. The population or populations served by the remaining four persons in this cateory is unknown. One person was formerly employed by a division of a recreation department existing specifically to serve the handicapped in a large city. Another individual had assisted in the formation of a local recreation association for the handicapped while previously employed by the local Preventative Social Services agency. One person had acted as a volunteer at a summer camp for the handicapped, and finally, the nature of the experience of one person was unknown.

Six recreation directors mentioned personal experience with the handicapped in recreation or related settings. Advocacy and leisure counselling were not reported by any of the respondents.

The reliability of the recreation directors' reports of staff experience is subject to the same limitations as the reports on educational achievement. From the directors' reports of services provided, of conversations with the staff, and from other anecdotal remarks, it is apparent that some omissions were made in reporting experiences.

It is encouraging to find that so many recreation staff members had some experience in working with handicapped persons. This is an

indication that there are quite a number of people who are willing to be involved with handicapped persons who live in their communities.

Obviously if recreation staff are to get experience some agency within the community or in a nearby community must offer a program. A regional research and demonstration project is a possible method of providing supervised practical experience. Local clinics with a 'hands on' component may also provide some practical experience. One recreation director related an incident where a group of handicapped persons and their leaders had visited the local pool while on holiday. The director felt this incident had been a beneficial experience for the particular pool staff who were already working with handicapped persons and were able to pick up new ideas from the visitors.

### The Role of Volunteers

How do volunteers fit into the scheme of things in your department? Do they figure prominently in all or some of your rams? (If used in a program for the handicapped): Do volunteers run the program or assist a staff member?

Has the department trained any volunteers to work especially with the handicapped? Do you have any handicapped volunteers?

If yes (to either of the two preceding questions):

Ø

How has it worked out?

Table 6 presents responses regarding the use of volunteers by recreation departments. The use of volunteers was categorized as occurring in either all programs or some programs with an absence of respondents

indicating volunteers were not used by the recreation department. In 11 cases the primary role of volunteers was to assist staff members while two departments reportedly utilized volunteers to direct programs. One respondent indicated that both leadership and assistance characterized the role of volunteers. Of eight departments which used volunteers in 'some' programs, seven had volunteers working with the handicapped, one did not. No department reported using volunteers only in programs for the handicapped.

Volunteers in All Programs			Volunteer	s in So	me Pro	grams
6			•	8		
•			Used <u>Only</u> With the Handicapped	Used w the Handic		Not Used With the Handicapped
•			0	7		1
Volunteers Run and Volunteers Run Programs Assist Assist Staff		Volunte Run Prog			unteers st Staff	
2	1	Ø 3	0			8

Table 6 . Reported Use of Volunteer by Recreation Departments

Two recreation directors reported that volunteer training programs were available while twelve had not provided training for their volunteers.

There were three reported instances of handicapped people being involved with recreation departments as volunteers. Each of the three were adult males; one an ampute, one mentally handicapped and one with cerebral palsy. All were involved with children's sport programs.

CE.

ju staliji.

him. He's the type of guy who things he has the answers to everything. But you have to kind of put that aside and talk to him in the manner that he understands .... We work him out with minor hockey and minor ball programs and give him a responsibility. He can't handle a great responsibility and he can't handle pressure. Somebody starts putting pressure on him and he blows. But give him something he can do on his own with no pressure and with some responsibility and he'll do a good job."

It is reasonable to assume that volunteers will continue to play a major role in programs in which handicapped persons are involved. By using volunteers recreation departments can achieve a low leader-participant ratio and still keep the program financially viable. However, there are two important points to be made about the utilization of volunteers to work with handicapped persons. First and foremost, the volunteers must receive training which is specific to the program they will be working in.

Secondly, the volunteer to paid staff ratio must be carefully considered. For example, one paid staff member working with fifteen volunteers and fifteen participants will probably have difficulty maintaining a program of high quality. The skills of the participants and the skills and experience of the volunteers both play a role in determining how many paid staff members are needed in a program.

Encouraging handicapped persons to become volunteers for the

recreation department is another way in which the recreation department can help the handicapped use their leisure time constructively. Volunteer responsibilities should supplement rathe than replace active participation opportunities for handicapped persons.

# The Use of A Continuum Approach to Service Delivery

A number of people in the recreation area have suggested that the services needed by physically, mentally, sensory and other disabled populations really fall on something of a continuum. Maybe I could just show you a diagram to show you what I mean. On one end of the continuum the focus is on segregated instructional upgrading type programs. This would be, for instance, a cardiac patient getting an exercise program at a hospital, or perhaps a young mentally retarded child learning to catch or kick a ball at a special school or institution. On the other end of the continuum are regular participation programs which are integrated. There might be a double leg amputee in the canoeing program, or a senior citizen with failing vision as a member of the ballroom dance club. In these cases the people participate without any special support. In between these two ends fall instructional programs which take place in a public setting, like swimming lessons for physically disabled children; and integrated programs where the handicapped function with a minimum of special supports, such #s assistance in transportation, changing clothes, or even in the way the instructor structures the class.

So in this particular model, we have four program

approaches:

1. the instructional program in a segregated setting,

2. the instructional program in an integrated setting,

3. the integrated program with supports, and

4. the regular community program.
 Are you with me? Any questions about any stage?
 <u>RE: question 3</u>: (If they were serving people or had had requests)

Do you feel you are using this kind of approach? In what ways? How do you feel about the possibilities of providing programs at each stage of the continuum?

Four individuals expressed the opinion that a continuum approach was being used to some extent by their departments. In one instance, involvement was reported in each of four program alternatives; instructional programs in a segregated setting, inst tional programs in a public setting, integrated programs with support and the regular community programs. One department was reportedly involved in the latter three program approaches with two directors reporting involvement in the latter two approaches.

Seven respondents indicated that a continuum approach was not being used by their respective departments.

Of the remaining three recreation directors, one did not know if a continuum approach was being used, while another did not say yes or no but gave examples of attempts at two approaches. The response of the third subject indicated the question had not been fully understood

#### Reported Use of a Continuum Approach to Table 7 . Service Delivery by Municipal Recreation Departments



## Comments Regarding the Use of A Continuum

3

the approach being used was one of responding Fo individ-046 ual handicapped people's needs. If a handicapped person approached the recreation department the person would be placed in a program.

"However, we will not and can not afford to provide programs just for handicapped whatever the realm of handicap. That is because we do not have that money."

- 047 -"I can say that we are definitely offern lar community programs where there is no segr n if there is any handicapped person, although at the same time, to be fair, we don't do anything special to encourage handicapped people or identify for them that these are programs that they can get involved with."
- "The philosophy of the department is not necessarily to 048 be a service delivery department, but to assist the community groups in providing their own forms of recrea-So even though that's a different community group tion. offering their own program we do a lot of liason, we do a lot of assistance with that program. So its not a clear-cut line that says our department doesn't offer



those but it does offer these. Its much more hazy like than that. In terms of just our department solely, we're definitely here, offering the regular community program."

Thirteen recreation directors said their departments could get involved with regular community programs and with integrated programs with supports; eleven stated involvement could also occur with instructional programs in a public setting; six regarded instructional programs in a segregated setting as a possibility. One individual seemingly did not understand the question.

Table 8. Expressed Support for Involvement at Each Stage of a Service Delivery Continuum /

Instructional Program in a Segnegated Setting	Instructional Pfogram in an Integrated Setting	Integrated Program With Supports	Regular Community Program 4	Other
َ5 م	<b>4</b> , 11	13	13,	1*

Number of Recreation Departments Willing To Be Involved

Response indicated the question was not well understood

Subsequent to responding, five individuals expressed hesitancies regarding their responses. Two of these recreation directors had been supportive of offering all four program approaches, while three had been willing to be involved with the three program approaches on the right hand side of table 8. Of the five hesitant respondents, three were concerned about resources, primarily human but financial as well. The fourth recreation director felt the community was too small to offer all of the program approaches. Finally, one recreation director indicated that as the population of the town increased the recreation department could become "more involved" but the primary responsibility of the department at this point in time was to advise the local association for the handicapped who in term should be responsible for approaches other than the regular community

## Comments Regarding Potential Involvement Along Approgram Continuum

one director felt that as long as the children were being taken out of the community to go to school the recreation department wouldn'thave much input regarding instruction in a segregated setting. Because its recreation I can see us more within the public setting thying to get them into regular type activities or reach a level where they can someday go into that ..."

050

- although willing to offer upgrading programs in the public setting, one subject philosophically was opposed to segregation. "I'm against separating them and having them ... label there a nandicapped group and therefore set up some kind of program. I think with integration in the community and the fact they work with regular children and adults is the area we should be working in."

Four of the recreation directors could apply the Arsenault and Wall model (Arsenault and Wall, 1979) to their specific situation at that point in time, although this did not mean they were offering programs at each stage on the continuum. Only one respondent identified programs fitting each of the four categories presented. No respondent mentioned having used any continuum type of model as a guide in the development of services for handicapped persons.

The remaining ten directors could not readily apply the model to the programs they currently offered. In a few cases the departments were in fact involved at various points on the continuum. In these cases the recreation directors may have been unclear on the meaning of the question. For instance they may have interpreted the question as: "Do u think you are intentionally sing this kind of approach?" Or, they may have thought the question asked: "Do you have programs at each point on this continuum?"

Comments 046, 047 and 048 were offered by recreation directors who did not feel they were using a continuum approach as an explanation of what they were doing and why they were doing it.

Comment 050 reflects a strong 'pro-integration' attitude. In another part of the interview the respondent conceded that a current facility situation had made it necessary to regregate handicapped persons in an instructional program in a public setting.

There is a need to stress to recreation professionals that segregated programs are acceptable and even beneficial in a developmental context. To a recreation department there are advantages in having a model to refer to. In the general sense, a model can provide a conceptual framework from which to develop services. More specifically, a model can help recr ation personnel to focus attention on the variety of program alternatives which a recreation department could become involved with. The use of a model can also assist the recreation department in the application of a developmental perspective or sense of direction in dealings with individual handicapped persons.

In the context of the interview the model provided a good framework for discussing potential services. When pressed to apply the model to their individual situations in most cases the directors did so, readily. Differentiating services to the handicapped into specific program types whelped the respondents to explain what services they thought they could provide and what they thought they could not provi

Certainly the different kinds of programs a recreation department becomes involved with depends on specifics of each situation. As comment

And suggests, the demand for segregated instructional programing or even for instructional programs in the public setting may be in another community where children are enrolled in a residential school. Given that taxpayers support the recreation programs, in a community with a school for the handicapped, should the local taxpayers be expected to pay for the recreation of residential school children? In all likelihood recreation departments in residential school towns do not feel the same sense of obligation to pupils in residential schools as would be the case with handicapped individuals from local families. For as long as residential schools continue to exist the Provincial government should make a effert to ensure a full range of recreation opportunities are lable in these communities, and should be prepared to offset the financial burden to the municipal recreation authorities.

## Individualized Instruction

T'd like to focus on the instructional upgrading type of programs for a few moments. Many recreation departments have not traditionally been involved in this kind of program. However, realistically these programs are needed by a large number of handicapped persons as a stepping stone in order that they might eventually be integrated into regular programs. In many communities the onus seems to fall onto the recreation department because it is the only outlet for recreation services.

Individual instruction which may or may not take place within a group setting is a desirable way of programming. The specific characteristics here are

that each participant is assessed individually and the instructor works at least part of the time on on one with the participant on an individually prescribed program. So, the instructor makes plans about what objectives are appropriate, assesses what the individual can do, prescribes and teaches according to the assessment, then evaluates the w effects of the instruction on each person. (show diagram) 74

Arey you familiar with this kind of approach? Does the department offer any programs like this or have they in the past?

If yes: Is tack analysis (where everything to be learned is broken down into small, successively ordered parts) used, or are written task analyzed sequences such as this one used? (present example)

If no (no programs offered): Do you know of any

staff members who have experience in this

\* kind of program?

٠<u>ني</u> (

Do you think this kind of approach could really come in handy in implementing programs for the disabled?

Ten of the fourteen subjects claimed to be familiar with an individualized instruction approach although only one department had offered an individualized program. In this instance the answer given by the subject made it apparent that individual assessments and prescriptions were made. 051 - "The instruct is take them one on one and assess their ability and the stage that they're at. And then we identify the approach that should be used and the skill area and just take it from there."

This recreation director made no further reference to the actual instructional process or to the evaluative component. Neither task analysis nor task analyzed instructional materials were used. Several of the remaining subjects said that parts of the individualized instruction process occurred in the swimming program, specifically, individual assessments, feedback, and evaluation, but instruction was given primarily to groups rather than to individuals.

Regarding staff experienced in individualized programs, three directors each thought they might have one person with experience while six did not have any staff with experience and two did not know. In one case there were volunteers reported to have individualized instruction experience.

Ten directors were of the opinion that individualized instruction was a useful approach, although in one instance the individual did not feel his or her department could make use of it. Another subject could only see the approach as useful for programs offered through the local Preventative Social Services agency.

Owing to administrative difficulties, data on the above questions were gathered from only twelve of the fourteen recreation directors.

<u> </u>	omments Regarding Programs Incorporating Individualized Instruction	
052	- yes its useful because of individual differences.	•
053	<ul> <li>yes its useful but it depends if the staff is willing to take it on.</li> </ul>	¥
054	- yes its useful depending on the capabilities of the individual handicapped person; when its necessary it has to be done.	

- 055 yes its an "ideal" approach for developing a handicapped person <u>but</u> we can't get hown to a one on one basis because of a lack of money and time.
- 056 "I think its useful for almost everything, personally .... I see it as a good staff training approach, too."
- 057 "I think its the only responsible approach if we were going to get involved with any sort of this in-depth type of instructional involvement. And its certainly one we wouldn't get into at least with our present staff ratio or staff expertise without a lot of input in terms of assessing the needs and identifying, carefully identifying a program for the child or adult."

It is somewhat surprising that a large proportion of the respondents felt familiar with an individualized instruction approach, given that such an approach operating in only one of the recreation departments. While the majority of respondents agreed that individualized instruction wes a useful approach, the reactions of the directors ranged from very positive (comments 052, 054, 056) to mildly positive with strong reservations (comments 053, 055, 057). These reservations primarily concerned the ability of the departments to provide an adequate number of trained staff.

In the recreation department where there were volunteers experienced in individualized instruction, these volunteers were parents of handicapped children who had received training on instructional techniques to assist them in teaching their own children. With regards to the prognosis for improving the quality of recreation for handicapped persons it is a positive finding that there were no objections to individualized instruction on the basis that it did not fall within the traditional bounds of recreation.

# Contacts with the Recreation Services to Special Groups Section of Alberta Recreation and Parks

The Provincial government has a section for recreation services to special groups. Have you received anything

from them?

(Probes: letters pamphlets, workshops) If yes: Has this been useful to the department? Are you aware of any ways they have been active? Has the regional recreation consultant been of assistance first of all directly by giving information about the handicapped or secondly as a liason between your department and the section for special groups?

All 14 recreation directors had received information from Recreation Services to Special Groups. Six of the directors had received letters or pamphlets on workshops, two subjects mentioned being on the mailing list, one subject said the information was about the services the Section provides and one subject admitted not being able to remember what the information was about. Only one subject mentioned having ever written to the Section.

One respondent said yes, the information sent 1. been useful, while thirteen respondents said no, the information had not been useful, they had not been able to make use of it.

Eight of the respondents expressed some awareness of ways in which the Section had been active. Workshops were mentioned by six persons, activities with seniors by one person, surveys by one person and grants and games for the handicapped by one person. Two other subjects expressed a general awareness of the activities and resources of the Section but were not specific. Six individuals were unaware of any ways the Section had been active.

In five cases the regional recreation field consultant had never mentioned the handicapped in the memory of the recreation director. Of

the nine recreation directors who had discussed the handicapped with the regional field consultant, seven felt the regional field consultant was of assistance, one felt the regional field consultant was not of assistance and one director gave a noncommittal reply. The seven directors who had found the regional field consultant to be of assistance cited a stal of four ways in which the assistance had been given. In three instances the regional field consultant had been directly useful whereas in four instances the regional field consultant had been useful as a liason. Two recreation directors mentioned that the regional field consultants had provided information on funding while two others mentioned that information was provided in clinics.

.

1. je 1

None of the feetbors mentioned that they or any of their staff had actually participated in a workshop conducted or sponsored by Recreation Services to Special Groups.

Comments Regarding Recreation Services to Special Groups

- 058 "We've had several letters back and forth with reference to the designing of the recreation complex."
- 059 "Its been useful to the point that its information and educational but because we're not into that field that's about the extent it comes to. It comes down to the dollar bill. We don't have the programs so we don't really get involved in it."
- 060 "We haven't sent anybody to workshops or anything like that or really required any more information because there hasn't been any needs expressed in the community for it. We kept it just for information at this point in time. But I can't say we've really put it to use so I guess I would have to say it hasn't been very useful."
- 061 "To date we haven't made use of it, that much. Hope-fully we will be able to plug into some of the programs, especially leadership skills. That's probably where we'd plug in more than anywhere else."
- 062 "Any resource is useful whether its used today or filed away for future reference.... We haven't seen an idea or and said 'Heh, we're going to do that.'"

- 063 "Although the information is valid we're just not organized to the point where we've utilized that information."
- 064 "Nothing's really been of great value .... They're in Edmonton ...."

It was expected that all of the recreation directors would have received information from the Recreation Services to Special Groups Section given that the sampling procedure, as presented in the methodology, utilized the mailing list of that government agency.

The recreation directors seemed to know very little about the Recreation Services to Special Groups Section as evidenced by the few cited examples of ways in which the Section had been active. Building a higher profile amongst community recreation appropriatents is one step which could help the Section to better serve the interest of handicapped persons.

The Recreation Services to Special Groups Section characteristically operates on a demand system, providing service then requested to fo so. Regional field consultants employed by Alberta Recreation and Parks are to act as a liason between the section for Special Groups and recreation directors as one of the many functions they perform. Clearly this system needs to be reviewed given that five recreation directors claimed that their regional field consultant had here mentioned the handicapped, in addition to the one recreation director who felt the regional field consultant had not been of assistance regarding programs for the handicapped. Further questioning of the seven recreation directors whose regional field consultants had been of assistance was intended to crassify the activities of the regional field consultants as to whether they acted as a liason with the Special Groups Section, or whether they were directly involved in solving problems and offering ideas regarding the handicapped independent of the Special Groups Section. In retrospect it may have

been more effective to solicit a description of the specific actions of the field consultant. The recreation directors had difficulty classifying the activities of the regional field consultant into independent act and liason categories. It is unreasonable to expect that the recreation directors would always know the degree to which the regional field consultants were acting independently.

The declaration by 13 of 14 recreation directors that the materials sent by the Recreation Services to Special Groups Section is a finding that should be carefully considered. On the basis of the results of the survey it would be very difficult to identify all pf the factors underlying this response; however the inherent communication difficulties in this situation are extremely complex. It was evident from the study that effective communication between the recreation departments surveyed and the Recreation Services to Special Groups Section on the whole had not been established. Perhaps, reliance on a third party liason, the regional field consultants, may be a central feature of this problem. There may be a case to be made for changing the mandate of the Recreation for Special Groups Section from that of a demand service to a service where direct links are established between community recreation departments and the Special Groups Section. Mailings which the majority of recreation departments do not feel they are in a position to use and thus are "filed away for future reference" as comment 064 suggests do not contribute to the improvement of recreation services for handicapped persons. The actions of the Special Groups Section may be founded on a premise that the majority of people receiving their mailings possess certain knowledges, competencies, interests and attitudes which in fact may not be the case. As directors indicated in comments 059, 060 and 063, the problems which the departments faced included a lack of money, a lack of

expressed needs, as well as an inadequate level of organization to permit the utilization of the information provided. These kind of problems can be solved but until that time, until the particular departments reach a certain stage of development, it is unlikely that they will take advantage of the services Reconstion for Special Groups has to offer.

In all fairness a share of responsibility rests with recreation directors who repeatedly receive mailings which they feel they are unable to use and yet do not let that be known or request help for the problems which prevent them from taking advantage of that is offered.

## Communications with Advocate Groups

Have you been in communication with any advocate groups,

for example, "

- the Alberta Advisory Board on Recreation for the Disabled

the Alberta Association for the Mentally Retarded
 the Alberta Sports and Recreation Association for

the blind

the Alberta Amputee Sports and Recreation Association
the Alberta section of the Canadian Wheelchair Sports Association

- the University of Alberta?

If yes: What did they say? Were they helpful?

Three of the directors indicated they had not been in communication with any advocate groups. There were eight instances of contact with a local association for the handicapped. Eight directors said they had been in communication with the Alberta Advisory Board on Recreation for the Disabled, of which seven had received information and one had gone 81

影,

to a meeting. Two directors reported having had some contacts with Comserve. In two cases information had been received from the Alberta Association for Disabled Skiing, in one case from the Alberta Association for the Mentally Retarded and in one case from the Alberta Sports and Recreation Association for the Blind.

Three directors indicated an advocate group had been helpful, each citing a different group; The Alberta Advisory Board on Recreation for the Disabled in one instance, Comserve in another and a local association for the handicapped in another instance.

### Comments Regarding Advocate Groups

- 065 య
- "They (the local association for the handicapped) are basically coming up with they ideas and we are trying to work together to get something out of it, to prowide programs."
- 066 (With reference to information from the Alberta Advisory Board on Recreation for the Disabled) "Yes its been very helpful. In fact that is the only way that I've been able to keep our association locally informed as to what's happening and coming up which they, as individuals, can participate in."

In a number of cases where the recreation department had been in touch with a local association for the handicapped, the recreation directors believed that the associations were not sufficiently organized or well established to be in a position to assist the recreation department. Furthermore, the strength of the liason relationship between recreation departments and local associations varied greatly.

As was the case with information sent by the Recreation Services Special Groups Section, a number of directors said that the recreation department, the local association for the handicapped, or both, were not sufficiently organized to take advantage of materials sent by the Alberta Advisory Board on Recreation for the Disabled.

### Written Policies

Is there a written policy originating either from the recreation board or from within the department which deals specifically with offering services to the handicapped?

If yes; What are the essential characteristics of the policy? (Could I have a copy?)

Eleven recreation directors reported that their departments had no written policy regarding service provision to the handicapped. One of the affirmative respondents reported a clause within the fees and charges policy which stated that handicapped persons were required to pay only 25% of regular program fees. In the second case the policy was a section of the master plan which expressed a need for the development and upgrading of services to special groups. When asked the characteristics of the policy, the third affirmative respondent replied, "Just to provide services for them, programs to satisfy their needs" (see Appendix F).

The establishment of a written policy as presented 1... Appendix F reflects commitment on the part of a municipal recreation authority to the handicapped citizens of the community. Potentially, a written policy could serve as a guide for developing services, and as a means of ensuring continuity in service provision in the event of staff changes. Unfortunately only one recreation department had a well-developed policy which could facilitate the development of leisure services for the handicapped.

## Staff Hesitancy Towards Working with the Handicapped

A lot of people have expressed hesitancy ...ward working with the handicapped, usually saying things like:

"I don't know enough about them;"

"I don't know how to act when I'm and shakes "

"I don't think I could cope with a ! the solutions that might come up."

Do you feel any of your staff might have any of these kind of hesitancies about working with the disabled?

If yes: Could that be a problem or obstacle in imple-

menting programs for the disabled? How do you think people can overcome these kind of hesitancies?

If no (staff has no hesitancies): Do you attribute

this to anything in the past?

As indicated in Table 9, eleven recreation directors felt some or all of the recreation staff had hesitancies about working with handicapped persons. The one respondent who did not know felt there had been no evidence of hesitancy in the past. Two respondents were of the opinion their staffs had no hesitances.

> Table 9. Perceived Staff Hesitancies About Working with the Handicapped

Yes - Hesitancy Present	No Hesitancy	Don't Know
11	2	1

Of the two persons who identified no staff hesitancy, one attributed the lack of hesitancy to experience, while the other could not attribute it to anything in particular.

Speaking to the question of why hesitancy might not be present, the respondent who did not know if staff were hesitant suggested that working

84

しいとうことである

with the public puts a person in touch with a wide variety of people, that there are lots of individual differences "regardless of whether they're so called 'normal' or not .... Basically its just a matter of working with people, that's all."

Only three of the 11 respondents who answered that staff were hesitant about working with the handicapped felt this could pose problems in attempting to implement recreation programs for the handicapped through their department.

Eight recreation directors believed that the hesitancy of staff to work with handicapped people was not a limiting factor in the implementation of programs because: these staff were a small proportion of those available; only those who felt they could cope worked with the handicapped; an inservice training had proven effective in dealing with staff hesitancies.

Four recreation directors favoured workshops, clinics or courses to help people overcome hesitancies about working with the handicapped, four directors recommended practical experience and three directors felt a combination of both education and experience would be best.

Recreation Directors' Recommendations for Overcoming Staff Hesitancies

- 068 Explain situations that might arise and how to deal with them.
- 069 Find out what the (handicapped) people are like and become aware of various programs.
- 070 Provide staff with supervised practical experience with someone who understands them (the handicapped).
- 071 A well planned program helps.
- 072 "Have someone explain to them (the staff) why these people (the handicapped) act the way they do."
- 073 Use local associations for the handicapped as resources.

When asking one individual to give an opinion about the attitudes of other individuals it is difficult to assess the degree to which the personal attitudes or biases of the respondent enter into the answer. Of course, the recreation director is part of the staff of the recreation department and is also part of the local public, whose attitudes he or she assesses in the next question. So, given that a bias is imposed, it is a bias which represents the views of at least one member of each of the populations, and for the purposes of this study, a viewpoint of great importance be it the view of the majority or not.

It would be difficult to disagree with the recreation director who put forth the view that handicaps were part of the range of individual differences. There is probably a great deal of truth to the supposition that in working with the public, a great amount of experience in dealing with individual differences is gained. While it is true that handicapped people are in most ways like non-handicapped people, the director oversimplifies the situation greatly in saying that working with handicapped is "just a matter of working with people."

Of the three cases where the respondents were of the opinion that staff attitudes might present a problem in program implementation, two of the respondents offered the opinion that training or background would be helpful for the staff, prior to being asked how people could overcome hesitancies. Thus, while anticipating a problem, in their own minds the problem could not have been unsurmountable because they offered a solution without being asked if there was one. Two of the same three recreation directors volunteered their personal feelings in answering the question. One said he or she personally had felt all kinds of inadequacies doing volunteer work with the handicapped, while the other felt that he or she personally could 'handle it'.

One recreation director felt that all people had hesitancies about working with handicapped persons, which might imply that the respondent was hesitant about working with handicapped individuals.

In summary, the high percentage of recreation directors believing staff to be hesitant about working with disabled persons indicates the pr<u>esep</u>ce of a widespread problem. The solution to the problem is tied ctly to the whole area of staff training and experience. Persons formulating workshop or training materials must deal with the hesitant kind of feelings which a portion of recreation staff will most likely have. There is a deeper aspect to this problem which must also be considered. That is, the degree to which factors like hesitancy affect the number of recreation staff members who register for workshops which have content about handicapped persons. It would be very difficult to advocate forcing recreation staff members to work with handicapped persons or to take related training sessions against their will. However, adopting a position of 'those that can work with the handicapped do, and those that can not do something else' may prove adequate if only segregated programs are offered, but it certainly is not a workable position if the department is attempting to integrate handicapped persons into a variety of the regular programs. The very people that are hesitant or have negative attitudes towards the handicapped are the people it is most difficult to reach through the conventional, voluntary, centralized workshop type of approaches.

# Perceived Public Opinion to Integrated Services

How do you think people feel about having a handicapped person in their recreation program, or their child's recreation program? Do you think it depends on the kind of handicap the person has?

The responses of the recreation directors regarding local public opinion towards integrated recreation services ranged from not being able to formulate an opinion to positive opinions towards integrated services.

The one individual who felt that public opinion towards integrated services was positive in his or her particular community, expressed the view that people learn to accept a handicapped individual through exposure to that person.

Three respondents indicated that no one in the community had responded negatively. Presumably positive responses were absent as well. One subject stated, "I don't think it bothers people."

Six subjects said there were mixed feelings on integrated services in their communities. Elaborating, two persons felt that children were positive but parents viewed integrated programs for their children in a negative manner. Further, one of the subjects attributed negative parental attitudes to an overemphasis on winning in children's sport, consequently an unskilled handicapped child would be perceived to be a liability to a team. Two other subjects thought that some people could accept the participation of a handicapped person while others could not. A fear was expressed that some children might 'pick on' a handicapped peer. Another subject felt that while the general population was starting to accept the handicapped more and more, the parents of handicapped children viewed integrated programs negatively.

Three persons felt the public had negative feelings toward integrated recreation services. Two of the three had received negative feedback from, parents regarding integrated programs, and in one of these cases the parents had threatened towithdraw a child from an integrated program.

Ň

One subject could not judge how the local public felt about integrated recreation services.

Thirteen of the recreation directors thought people's views on integrated retreation would depend on the kind of handicaps participants had. Four directors indicated the likelihood of biases against the mentally handicapped while one director felt the local public were biased against those with visible physical handicaps.

### Table 10. Perceived Dependence of People's Feelings Regarding Integrated Recreation on the Handicap(s) of Other Participants

Yes - It depends on the kind of handicap	No - It does not depend on the kind of handicap	Other
13	Ni1 .	1*

People are less positively predisposed to:						
the mentally handicapped 🛩						
4	1	- 4	4			

\* - the individual did not seem to understand the question

Four other recreation directors felt that the severity of the handicap was the most significant factor influencing public attitudes.

The four remaining recreation directors did not specify a particular handicapped group. One director said the feelings of the non-handicapped participants depended on the social and physical skills of the handicapped participants. Another respondent felt that while the degree of handicap was a factor, the ability of the handicapped person to communicate and be at ease in the situation was important. Furthermore, the amount of exposure a disability group has had was very important in creating positive public opinion towards a specific handicapped group.

۴.

How do recreation directors assess public attitudes on an issue? It is likely that specific incidents, complaints or comments, and personal feelings all influenced the directors' responses regarding public attitudes towards integrated services. In two of the cases in which the directors assessed public opinion as negative and in two of the cases in which the directors thought the public had mixed feelings, the directors alluded to specific negative incidents or complaints which formed a basis or a partial basis for each of their responses. Evidence of personal feelings revealed over the course of the interview was congruent with the assessment of public opinion in two other instances. One individual who had expressed some negative opinions thought that public opinion was negative. Another individual who expressed an ideological commitment to integration which was backed by strong commitment by the recreation board to integrate the handicapped, thought public opinion was positive.

Generally, the tendency was for recreation directors to play a passive role in determining public opinion, which is to say, they wait to hear from the public to determine how the public feels.

Thus, if the tendency of dissatisfied persons to register complaints is stronger than the tendency of satisfied persons to let their feelings be known, then the recreation director may tend to formulate his or her own beliefs about public opinion based on a biased sample. A negative response, or even no response to an integrated program is less likely to encourage a recreation department to continue a program or proceed with the development of new integrated programs than if some positive feedback is obtained.

Provincial and local advocate associations could play a major role in fostering community support for integrated recreation. The use of

media advertisements, guest appearances on talk shows, speaking to other community groups and conducted poster campaigns are all methods which could be used to create positive public opinion. The comments of the recreation directors regarding biases towards specific groups seem to indicate that the greatest challenge will be for those advocating the participation of persons who are mentally handicapped or persons with any severe handicap.

### Recreation Boards

Could you tell me how the recreation board is appointed? Is there an effort to include people who will be a voice for the handicapped?

Are any of the current board members handicapped themselves or the parents of handicapped children?

If yes: Again, what were the focal points of the discussion? Was there any sort of consensus or any general areas of disagreement?

In twelve of the fourteen cases the recreation board was appointed by town council subsequent to the advertisement of vacancies on the board and the receipt of applications from local citizens. In these cases, the members who were appointed were either recommended by the recreation board or appointed independently by council.

The thirteenth recreation director served in a regional system and was responsible to a number of boards, one of which was appointed while the others were elected.

In the final case, the majority of the board members were delegates from service, community and professional groups with a few members at large.

There was only one reported instance of an effort made to include a person on the recreation board who would act as a voice for the handicapped. Four recreation directors reported having a board member who was the parent of a handicapped person.

The recreation board had had some discussion regarding the provision of services to the handicapped in only six cases. Three of these board discussions had occurred in the context of a recreation master plan.

Comments made by the recreation directors regarding recreation board

discussions were:

- 074 The consensus was "If there is a need run the program."
- 075 The board wants to educate town council to accept it and say it is a good thing and to be prepared to pay for it.
- 076 The board agreed serving the handicapped was a goal for the master plan.
- 077 The board was approached by people attempting to get a program for handicapped adults going. They delegated a board member to attend the meetings but the group folded.
- 078 The board meets once a year with the local association for the handicapped. This year they discussed the kinds of programs offered plus times and fees. The board was concerned that maybe there should be special fees. The local association felt the fees were reasonable and the times acceptable.
- 079 "... the board member who is on that committee (local association for the handicapped) has outlined the structure of the association and what their plans and objectives are, and how they would be looking for assistance from the recreation department .... There was no disagreement by any of the board members. They all felt these people were part of the community and should be given the opportunity the same as any other individual in the community."

The following comments were made by recreation directors who could not recall any board discussions regarding the handicapped. 080 - "... they just leave the program to the staff." 081 -

"I think (the board has not discussed it) because they are aware that we are doing as much as we can."

A number of recreation directors pointed out that candidates for the recreation board must have an interest in recreation in general, not just in a single area such as recreation for the handicapped.

Given that all board members do have an interest in recreation in general, it could be of benefit both to the recreation board and to handicapped persons if one board member also had a specific interest in recreation services for the handicapped. Having at least one member of each recreation board who is willing to actively advocate for the handicapped could increase the low incidence of discussion of the delivery of recreation services to the handicapped at the board level. As comment 079 indicates, such a board member could act as a liason with a local association for the handicapped and could also lobby internally for financial and moral support of improved services for handicapped members of the community. Maintaining a good communicative relationship between the recreation board and the local association for the handicapped would be facilitated by instituting an somus, meeting between the two groups as was the case in comment 078.

### Financial Barriers

Are there any particular financial limitations which might hinder your department in programming for the handicapped?

(<u>Probes</u>: lack of money to train or hire staff or to provide staffing hours or buy equipment)

Nine recreation directors indicated finances would likely hinder their departments in providing recreation services for the handicapped.
Eight of these individuals anticipated limitations in the provision of staffing hours and seven indicated a lack of funds for staff development. By way of elaboration two recreation directors said the problem of providing staff hours was most likely to occur if specialized one on one programs were undertaken without the aid of volunteers. The inability of the recreation department to purchase equipment was cited as a limitation by one director, as was the inability to provide transportation. Three of the nine directors with financial limitations on service provision for the handicapped revealed an overall shortage of funds in the department.

Of the remaining respondents, three indicated that finances would be a problem only if an attempt was made to institute programs which had not been included in the budget. Long range financing was not considered a problem. Two directors reported no financial limitations.

### Comments Regarding Financial Limitations

- 082 "If they are looking for X amount of dollars, let's say for two months, special dollars just set aside for the handicapped, I think we definitely have a problem."
- 083 "If they can't use the regular program with volunteers we're in trouble."

Municipal agencies which are funded by taxpayers owe a responsibility to those taxpayers. A failure to allocate funds to provide recreation opportunities for handicapped persons is an evasion of responsibility to taxpayers who are handicapped or who have a handicapped family member. It is not unreasonable to expect the proportion of funds allocated to providing services to the handicapped to equal the proportion of handicapped individuals in the local population.

It is probably unrealistic to expect municipal recreation authorities

to completely finance a large scale upgrading of recreation opportunities for the handicapped. In order that the quality of recreation available is improved and maintained over a long term basis, a vast improvement in support services available to recreation departments is needed. Provincial funding should be directed towards ongoing direct consulting services, staff and volunteer training programs, transportation, and regional demonstration projects, as well as special events and major building removations. 'One shot' Provincial grants injected into community recreation departments to 'run a program', when support services are inadequate is a poor use of Provincial funds in that such grants do little to ensure an ongoing involvement by municipal recreation departments. The local departments should be prepared to take responsibility for providing staffing hours and undertaking at least minor building removations.

Local and provincial advocate associations could play a stronger role in soliciting grant monies, and corporate and service club donations o for special events or special equipment in rural municipalities. However, advocate associations should not be expected to supply funds to redreation departments to ensure a basic level of recreation programming is available to handicapped persons.

### Physical Barriers - Facilities and Transportation

The accessibility of public buildings, particularly to wheelchair users is an issue which has surfaced in Alberta in the recent past. Are you aware of any architectural barriers which might limit the use of your facilities to persons in wheelchairs, the visually impaired, or other groups?

If yes: Have any special requests for funds been made to the local funding agency or the Provincial government to make modifications? Transportation is another part of the accessibility issue. What kind of options would be open to a handicapped person first of all, wanting to use the facilities during open recreation periods or secondly if the person was enrolled in a recreation program?

One recreation director was unable to pinpoint any barriers' which remained in the recreation facilities. With reference to the problem of barriers he said, "We have been quite aware of that." Thus the department, had removed barriers making the pool, the arena, the recreation director's office and all washrooms accessible.

: 4

Thirteen directors cited a total of 27 facility barriers of which they were aware.

•	Recreation Office	Ice Ar <b>e</b> na	Swimming Pool	Meeting Rooms	Curling Rink	Others
Number of Communities with Barriers	8	6	5	3	3	l (schools) l (all washrooms)

Table 11. Facility Barriers in Thirteen Communities

Several barriers were limiting but did not totally exclude handicapped participants. These included: an inaccessible snack bar in one of two arenas; an inaccessible outdoor swimming pool although the indoor pool was accessible; an inaccessible curling lounge although ice level and a viewing area were accessible. The remaining barriers were considered to

be more serious in nature.

Stairs were the primary problem with recreation offices. Two recreation directors hoped to be moving the location of their offices in the near future, and one subject indicated that if a wheelchair user telephoned he would be most willing to meet at an alternate location.

Swimming pool barriers included turnstiles, obstructions in change rooms, steps into showers and to the pool deck and an inaccessible viewing area.

The difficulties with ice arenas included no accessible/viewing areas, viewing possible only from the lobby, an inaccessible ice level and no accessible washrooms.

One subject noted that while access was good generally, some meeting rooms were inaccessible. The facility was new and an elevator was not included because of the cost. "If there were funds available (for an elevator) we weren't told ..."

Inaccessible curling lounges, the lack of an accessible viewing area and an inaccessible ice level were barriers cited in curling facilities.

Other instances mentioned were: barriers existed in school facilities used by the recreation department, and the washrooms in all recreation facilities in a particular community were not equipped to accommodate wheelchairs.

Eleven directors said they had not requested funds to eliminate facility barriers, although in one instance new facility construction was anticipated pending the outcome of a plebiscite.

Two directors had requested and received municipality funding through the regular budget and alterations were to be made in the current year.

The recreation directors did not differentiate between transportation

options available for participation in programs versus options available for facility use in open recreational times.

Six directors were aware of a special bus available in their communities whereby arrangements for transportation could be made by the handicapped person by telephone.

Two directors were aware of taxi grants available to the handicapped.

Two of the recreation departments had volunteer drivers, one of which also had the use of a regular school bus if needed.

Six recreation directors indicated that at the present time individuals must get to programs or facilities on their own. However, in two cases a handibus was expected to be available in the community in the near future and in another case the director was aware of a special van but was unclear about arranging for its use.

As a method of assessing the accessibility of recreation facilities, using only the reports of recreation directors could not be considered as highly reliable. The data represents a conservative estimate of architectural barriers because errors of omission are more likely than the inclusion of structural features which are not barriers.

Part of the intent of the question is to give an insight into the kinds of barriers of which recreation directors are aware. Overall, awareness of the variety of different types of barriers was quite good. The neartive aspect to this situation is that barriers continue to exist in facilities and transportation, limiting the opportunity of handicapped persons to be active participants or spectators. Particularly alarming is the high incidence of recreation offices which are inaccessible. While it is true that a wheelchair user could make specific inquiries about programs by telephone, it is also true that there are limitations to what can be accomplished by telephone.

The great range in the proportion of recreation facilities which contain barriers in individual communities, in the degree to which these barriers limit participation by handicapped persons and in the cost of eliminating barriers, makes it difficult to recommend a single course of action on the removal of barriers. Municipal recreation departments should be encouraged to act immediately to eliminate barriers which can be removed easily and at a flow expense. Long range planning for barrier removal specific to individual communities should be made a priority in every municipality with recreation facilities.

### Facility Restrictions

Are there any restructions on when or under what circumstances handicapped people can use the facilities?

If yes: Could you explain who is restricted and why?

There were no instances of restrictions on when or under what circumstances a handicapped person could use the facilities.

### WRITTEN RESULTS

As tables 12 and 13 illustrate, the majority of recreation directors felt that handicapped citizens were not well served in terms of recreation by either local agencies for the handicapped or the municipal recreation department.

Recreation directors were equally divided on the question of whether handicapped persons or their advocates had become more vocal in demanding recreation services (table 14).

The majority of recreation directors favoured improving recreation

## Table 12.In terms of recreation, the handicappedpeople in this community are well servedby local agencies for the handicapped.

	Response	Number Responded	Percentage Responded
1.	strongly agree	0	0 _
2.	agree	5	36
3.	disagree	7	50
4.	strongly disagree	2	. 14

÷

Table 13.

Handicapped people are well served by this recreation department.

	Response	Number Responded	Percentage Responded	•
1,	strongly agree	- 0	0	
2.	agree	4	29	
3.	disagree	10	. 71 🦯	
4°.	strongly disagree	0	0	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		•	

Table 14.

In the past five years, the demand for recreation services by handicapped people and their advocates has increased in this community.

	Response	Number Responded	Percentage Responded
1.	strongly agree	1	7
2.	agree	6	43
3.	disagree	6	43
4.	strongly disagree	1	7

services for seven of eight handicapped groups listed in table 15. The handicapped group most frequently identified as needing improved services was the physically disabled with 11 affirmative respondents, followed closely by the moderately mentally retarded with 10 affirmative respondents. The recreation directors were equally divided as to whether improved services were needed by mildly mentally retarded persons.

As illustrated in table 16 the recreation directors perceived their staffs to be more confident about providing recreation services to some handicapped groups than others.

The recreation directors were divided with small majorities agreeing that recreation staff and recreation board members favoured providing services to handicapped individuals (tables 17 and 18). The majority of recreation directors thought that the public favoured integrated recreation services (table 19).

The recreation directors were generally supportive on the idea of being involved with the handicapped across a continuum of service delivery approaches. However, they were divided as to whether their departments should be involved with Instructional Programs in Segregated Settings (table 20). Strong disagreement towards involvement in this type of program was registered by three respondents. A substantial majority of recreation directors favoured including a person who could act as a voice for the handicapped on the recreation board (table 21). However, support for including a voice for the handicapped on the recreation board was stronger than support for including a handicapped person on the board (table 22).

Most frequently cited as major problems in offering recreation services for the handicapped were the lack of identified participants for

Ye i

Table 15. Improved recreation services are currently needed in this community by: (eight handicapped

•

		<u> </u>	` <u>`</u>		······	1		
, 		Number	(%) Number	(9)	Number (%)	Ňumber	(2)	Number
Learning Disabled Persons	I	1 2	(E7)		6 (43)	,o ç	(0)	
Рһуяісаііу Напаісарреа Ретзопа		1 [(2)	10 10 (71)		2 (14)	0		<b></b>
Emotionally Disturbed Persons		3 (21)	4 (29)		5 (36) +	0 (0)		7
Deaf or Hearing Impaired Persons	•Э	2 (14)	6 (43)		4 (29)	1		
o bnild Visually Inpaired Persons	·a	2 (14)	7 (50)		(21)	1 (7)	-	 1
Persons Profoundly Sevelei Sevelei Yetsons	•ว	3 (21)	6 (43)	7	(29)	0 (0)		
sreely stately state	.а	1 (7)	9 (64)	- -	(21)	0 (O)		
Mildly Retarded Retrons		1 (7)	7 (43)	۲ - ۲	(43)	1 (7)		
	Response	Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strong 1.	Disagree	Response	
			5.	т. т		4.	No	

102

.

.

1.1

¥

.

•

ı

There is currently a staff member in this department who would feel confident programming for: (eight handicapped groups) Table 16.

١

		f	······				
		Number (%)	Number (7.)	Number (%)	Number (%)	Number	
Learning Disabled Persons	·H	1 (2)	9 (64)	3 (21)	1 (7)	1	=
Рһузісаіlу Напаісарреа Ралазарреа	•9	2 (14)	8 (57)	4 (29)	0 0)		-
Emotionally Disturbed Persons	.Ŧ	1 (7)	5 (36)	6 (43)	2 (14)		
Deaf or Неатіпg Ітраітеd Ретзопs	. Е.	1 (7)	- 4 (29)	8 (59)	1 (7)	J	
Blind or Visually Impaired Persons	.a	1 (7)	5 (36)	7 (50)	1 (7)	•	~
Severely and Profoundly Persons	·ɔ	1 (7)	3 (21)	8 (57)	1 (7)	-	
Moderately Retarded Persons	•a	3 (21)	8 (57)	3 (21)	0 0	I	
Mildly Retarded Persons	•₩	3 (21)	9 (64)	2 (14)	0)	1	
	Response	1. Strongly Agree	2. Agree	3. Disagree	Strongly 4. Disagree	No Response	•

103

and the second second

٩.

# Table 17. The majority of staff members in this department favour providing direct services to handicapped persons.

Response	Number Responded	Percentage Responded
1. strongly agree	1	7
2. agree	6	43
3. disagree	5	36
4. strongly disagree	0	0
No Response	2	14
		·····

### Table 18. The majority of members of the Recreation Board favour providing direct services to handicapped persons.

Responșe	Number Responded	Percentage Responded
1. strongly agree	2	14
2. agree	6	43
. disagree	5	36
. strongly disagree	• 0	0
o Response	1	7

Table 19.

.

People in the community are generally in favour of having handicapped persons integrated into regular programs.

Response	Number Responded	Percentage Responded	
. strongly agree	0	0	
. agree	9	64	
disagree	4	29	
strongly disagree	0	0	
Response	` 1	7	

Table 20.

The recreation department in this community should be involved in some capacity at the following points on the service delivery continuum.\*

**~** 

			Number	(%)	Number	(%)	Number	(%)	Number	(%)
	Regular ,Community Program		5	(00)	6	( 04 )	0 (	(0)	0 0	(0)
	Integrated Program with Supports		3 (12)		11 (79)		0 0		0	
	Instructional Instructional Integrated Program in a Program in a Program Segregated Public with Setting Setting Supports		2 (14)		10 (71)		2 (14)		0 (0)	
,	Instructional Program in a Segregated Secting		1 (7)		6 (64)		4 (29)		3 (21)	
	Response	1. Strongly	Agree		. <sup>2.</sup> , Agree		3. Disâgree	4. Strongly	Disagree	*

Arsenault and Wall Service Delivery Continuum (Simard and Wall, 1979)

.

105

í

### Table 21. Attempts should be made to include on the Recreation Board a person who will act as a voice for the handicapped.

Response	<sup>3</sup> Number Responded	Percentage Responded
. strongly agree	2	7
agree	9	64
disagree	2	14
strongly disagree	1	7

.

### Table 22.

Attempts should be made to include a person who is handicapped on the Recreation Board.

	Response	Number Responded	Percentage Responded
1. s	trongly agree	2	14
2. a	gree	6	43
3. d	isagree	5	36
4. s	trongly disagree	1	7

; 0



programs and the lack of trained personnel, followed by the lack of trained volunteers (table 23).

	•	Major Problem	Minor Problem	Not A Problem
1. lack of add	equate facilities	4	6	4
2. lack of add	quate transportation	2	6	6
3. lack of tre	ined personnel	8	4	2
4. lack of tra	ined volunteers	6	6	2
5. lack of dir	ect consulting services	3	7	4
<ol> <li>lack of ide for program</li> </ol>	ntified participants	8	4	2
7. lack of writ	ten program materials	3	4	7
. lack of equi	pment	3	9	2
. attitudes of	the public at large	4	. 4	6
. attitudes of recreation d	persons in the epartment	0	5	9
• <b>a</b> ttitudes of Recreation B	persons on the pard	0	4	10
. others:		0	0	0

ć

Table 23. Potential Problems in Offering or Improving Services for the Handicapped

ţ

### CHAPTER V

#### SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

### ORAL AND WRITTEN DATA

#### Assessing Needs

As this study and previous studies have shown, recreation departments often express difficulties in contacting handicapped individuals to determine what recreation services are needed. A number of factors make the possibility of handicapped individuals contacting the recreation department unlikely.

Information regarding the estimated or actual incidence of specific handicapping conditions in each community has the potential to be extremely helpful to recreation departments. While there are estimates currently available, the reliability of the estimates, particularly for small communities, is open to question. Furthermore the applicability of the definitions of handicaps to the field of recreation is also very questionable. Hopefully current research on the incidence of handicapping conditions<sup>(1)</sup> will be of greater utility to recreation practitioners.

#### Requests for Services

There are numerous factors which limit the validity of a discussion on the relationship between the incidence of handicapping conditions in the population and the incidence of requests for recreation services and recreation services provided. First of all the interviewer did not attempt to

(1) Personal communication with J. Brehaut, Research Officer, Research and Planning, Alberta Social Services and Community Health. ascertain the actual number of handicapped individuals which the recreation departments were serving. Secondly, as mentioned previously, the incidence of handicapped individuals living in small communities is uncertain. Thirdly, it would be difficult to make any assertions about what proportion of the handicapped population could reasonably be expected to be involved in municipally sponsored recreation. Should the proportion of handicapped citizens involved in recreation be the same as the proportion of nonhandicapped citizens who are involved? Or should the commonly cited circumstances of high unemployment and large amounts of leisure time amongst the handicapped lead to the expectation that a higher proportion of the handicapped population should be involved in municipal recreation?

In addition to the three points raised in the preceding paragraph, there are limitations to the reliability of the recreation directors' reports. This study does not enable an assessment of the frequency with which individuals with handicapping conditions have participated successfully in regular programs without support, and hence are somewhat "invisible" to the recreation directors.

Keeping the aforementioned limitations in mind, if it is accepted that the incidence of handicapping conditions in small Alberta communities approximates the overall estimates of handicapping conditions in the total population, by using a round figure of 10% [Sherrill, 1976, (>10%); Kirk, 1972, (10.035%); Brehaut, 1978, and Dreimanis, 1979, (9.3%)], the total handicapped population of all centres surveyed would range between 7,940 (Canada Census population figures) and 10,728 (recreation directors' estimates of total population served). Owing to the tendency of handicapped persons to move to centres where special services are available, the actual figures would likely be somewhat lawer. In any event, it 110

1.00 M

seems fair to say that requests by handicapped persons for recreation services and services provided by the municipal recreation department to handicapped persons are both low in frequency relative to the incidence of handicapped conditions in the population.

### Responses to Requests for Services

The actual proportion of requests by handicapped persons which recreation departments were able to meet with recreation services is an encouraging finding. Of course, as previously indicated there are limitations to the accuracy of the reports. The true incidence of either requests which did not result in a service or requests which did result in a service may be higher than recreation directors recalled.

It is particularly in mesting to note the frequency with which handicapped persons were integrated into regular programs. The expect of parallel service systems cited by Melchers (1976B) as a major factor in maintaining segregation, seems to be a factor facilitating integration in small communities.

### Comments Regarding Programs

The comments made by the recreation directors regarding the participation of handicapped persons in both special and regular programs reflects a great variability in the state of the art of providing recreation for handicapped persons. This variability was reflected in the recreation directors' knowledge regarding handicapping conditions, the ideology of normalization and the process of achieving integration in recreation, all of which appeared to have a considerable bearing on the success of the recreation programs. Several of the comments are

4.7

excellent examples of how to provide services to handicapped consumers.

### Advertising

While the majority of recreation departments utilized a variety of advertising methods, the advertising strategies employed frequently lacked sophistication in terms of promoting the participation of handicapped community members. In some instances recreation departments had used direct contact methods, all-welcome statements or listing a local association for the handicapped as a co-sponsor of programs. Unfortunately the advertisement of a general support clause offering to aid handicapped persons through an integrative process had not been undertaken by the departments surveyed.

### Staff Discussions

There really does not appear to be a great deal of dialogue about services for handicapped persons occurring within recreation departments. One would expect that increasing the dialogue not only could help the recreation director keep in touch with staff feelings about operating programs but also could generate ideas about beneficial changes to existing programs or the development of new programs to meet the needs which staff members are encountering.

In some communities it was apparent that careful program planning by recreation administrators as well as appropriate staff training and an ongoing dialogue amongst all staff had contributed to the continuing development of quality recreation services for handicapped individuals. Unfortunately, in other communities the staff did not have adequate training, the administrators were unaware of the feelings of the program staff and ultimately there were some very negative results.

### Education and Experience of Recreation Staffs and Volunteers

The results of this survey indicate that there is a need to provide recreation staffs and volunteers with educational and experiential opportunities in order that they might upgrade their knowledge and skills.

In assessing what kinds of staff training should be provided and to whom, consideration should be given to the handicapped groups for which recreation directors were not confident about providing programs; the handicapped groups which the recreation directors thought were most in need of improved services; and the incidence in the population of all of the groups implicated above. Furthermore, the infrequent expression of knowledge about the process of integration by the recreation directors has implications for staff training. In addition, consideration must be given to instructional methods which are appropriate to the upgrading kinds of programs which a number of the recreation directors favoured. It is also important that each recreation department receive appropriate staff training for administrative, supervisory staff, for program staff and for volunteers and that adequate numbers of persons become trained.

On the basis of the results, a great deal of attention should be given to how staff training is provided. Centralized workshops promoted through mailed pamphlets seem to be of limited utility in effecting lasting changes on the programming practices of recreation departments in rural communities. This indicates the need for alternative approaches in the area of staff training.

### The Use of A Continuum Approach to Service Delivery

While none of the departments surveyed had been using a model of a service delivery continuum such as the one proposed by Arsenault and Wall (1979), the recreation directors were generally positive about the possibility of doing so. While admittedly words do not necessarily translate into actions, the expressed support for upgrading programs and for integration is contrary to what is reported in the literature (Hutchison and Lord, 1979; Sensrud, 1978). However, enthusiasm over expressed support for an integrative continuum must be somewhat tempered owing to the fact that the questions asked if the recreation director felt the recreation department could be involved "in some capacity" with each of the four program alternatives. Variability in the interpretation of this clause was apparent. Some directors alluded to a limited, passive involvement whereby supervised facilities, consulting services and assistance in obtaining funds would be provided to a local association for the handicapped. Other directors were eager to play an active role in developing and promoting the services on the integration continuum.

Perhaps the most important point to be made is that there was no overt resistance on the part of the recreation directors to having handicapped persons participate in municipally sponsored recreation programs in the regular community facilities. A number of recreation directors had reservations about the ability of many handicapped persons to participate without support but the directors were not opposed to the idea of handicapped persons participating with support. Furthermore, as illustrated in table 20, opposition to involvement with instructional programs for handicapped persons in the community facilities was extremely

limited. A number of recreation directors conveyed a real sense of responsibility for meeting the recreation needs of all citizens of the community, and therefore perceived the handicapped citizens of the community as part of that responsibility.

Community based recreation for handicapped citizens could be facilitated by the promotion of a service delivery continuum, be it the Arsenault and Wall continuum used in this study or perhaps other models such as the Hutchison and Lord (1979)~ "upgrade, educate, participate" model.

### Individualized Instruction

The majority of recreation directors were prepared to agree with the portrayal of individualized instruction as a useful instructional method to upgrade the recreation skills of handicapped participants. Furthermore, many of the recreation directors expressed a willingness to utilize indívidualized instruction in programs offered under the auspices of the recreation department.

While a large number of respondents claimed familiarity with this instructional approach, owing to the expressed lack of experience it must be assumed that almost all of the recreation departments would require some staff or volunteer training prior to implementing programs involving this instructional approach.

In response to this question and at other points in the interview, some of the recreation directors expressed reservations about the financing of "one-on-one" programs.

In part these concerns seem to be related to a misinterpretation of some of the characteristics of individualized instruction.

## Contacts with the Recreation Services to Special Groups Section of Alberta Recreation and Parks

Generally speaking, there is currently only one way communication between the recreation departments in rural communities and the Special Groups Section, which is to say that the recreation departments receive information through a regional field consultant or mailings from the Section. While respecting the autonomy of each recreation department, it would seem that closer links and improved communications between the Special Groups Section and the recreation departments would be beneficial.

The demand service system appears to be an overly passive system for an area which is in need of active development work (Hutchison and Lord, 1979).

Further research directed towards identifying factors which prevent municipal recreation departments from utilizing resources offered by the Special Groups Section could be beneficial.

### Communications with Advocate Groups

It has been recommended that advocate groups play a leading role in promoting the involvement of handicapped citizens in community recreation (Melchers, 1976A). Many of the communities surveyed had an advocate group actively involved in facilitating recreation. Some of the functions which these groups were performing included: providing support services, identifying resources and acting as a liason between handicapped citizens and the recreation department. However, in several situations the local advocate group appeared to have too great a responsibility for the day-today operation of the recreation programs rather than serving as a monitoring, evaluating or supporting function. Generally, provincial advocacy bodies appeared to be having very little effect on the development of recreation services for handicapped persons in the communities surveyed.

Several recreation directors indicated that public opinion towards particular handicapped groups was largely influenced by the amount of exposure which handicapped groups received. As Melchers (1976A) has suggested campaigns directed at creating positive public opinion on integration could be a vital function of advocate groups.

### Written Policies

As a number of authors have stated or implied (CAMR, 1980, Edginton et al. 1978, Hutchison and Lord, 1979, Witt, 1974) a written policy can serve a useful function in helping recreation departments provide services for handicapped persons. It is apparent from this survex that written policies regarding service provision for the handicapped continue to be rarely found in small community recreation departments.

Given the potential utility of a written policy recreation departments should be encouraged to develop a policy. Possible sources of assistance in policy formulation include local advocate groups, handicapped citizens, local professionals with special knowledge of the handicapped, provincial advocacy bodies and the Provincial Recreation and Parks Department.

### Staff Attitudes Towards Service Provision for the Handicapped

Recreation directors believed that staff members tended to be hesitant about working with the handicapped. Although staff attitudes were considered as only a minor problem or not a problem at all by the directors, it is certainly an area which merits attention by persons

promoting integrated recreation.

Authorities which provide staff training opportunities must consider , staff hesitancy as a factor with implications on both the content of staff training materials and the way in which staff training opportunities are presented.

In considering the degree to which staff attitudes may the staff barrier to handicapped persons it is perhaps appropriate to to the he data from tables 17 and 20. Five recreation directors felt the: staffs did not favour providing direct services to handicapped persons. To directors themselves all favoured some sort of involvement in regular programs and integrated programs with supports. This could either be interpreted to mean that the five recreation directors had different opinions than the majority of their staff members or that the kind of involvement which they favoured was of an indirect nature. While the latter supposition seems most likely, further study would be required to substantiate this point.

### Public Opinion on Integrated Services

Despite the cautious interpretation of public opinion during the interview, in answering the written questionnaire a majority of recreation directors expressed the opinion that the local public favoured integrated recreation. However, there were four recreation directors who felt that the public were not in favour of integrated recreation and four recreation directors who indicated that public attitudes could present a major problem in offering or improving services for handicapped persons. As the incidence of handicapped persons living in the community increases it could be expected that the public would become increasingly more accepting of the handicapped. Advocate associations, government agencies, and recreation departments could all play significant roles in fostering community acceptance of the handicapped and public support for integrated recreation.

### Recreation Boards

It was apparent from the interviews that recreation boards in the communities surveyed generally had had little or no discussion about providing services to handicapped citizens. Considering that only six of the recreation directors could recall any related board discussions, the basis upon which seven other recreation directors were able to judge the majority opinion of the board in order to provide an answer on the written questionnaire is open to speculation. Given that recreation directors reporting board discussions intimated or stated that the board was in favour of providing direct services to handicapped persons it would seem that the five negative responses in the written questionnaire were submitted by recreation directors who did not report board discussions. In any event, as illustrated in table 23 recreation directors felt that board attitudes were the least significant problem in offering or improving services for handicapped persons. The inclusion of a board member with specific interests in recreation service provision to handicapped citizens, an action which would likely increase board discussions, was favoured by the majority of the recreation directors.

### Financial Limitations

Recreation authorities should consider financial obligations to services for handicapped citizens as equivalent to those for non-handicapped citizens (Witt, 1973, Hutchison and Lord, 1979). Many of the recreation directors considered finances to be a limiting factor to offering recreation programs for handrcapped individuals. These concerns, were focused on the ability of the department to provide staff training and program staff salaries.

### Physical Barriers - Facilities and Transportation

This study indicates that there are numerous facility barriers in small Alberta communities. Although many recreation directors were aware of existing barriers, few had made plans for eliminating these barriers.

In planning for barrier removal there are two factors which should be considered; the cost of removing barriers, and the degree to which specific barriers limit participation in individual communities. Given the ultimate goal of ensuring that all recreation facilities in the province are barrier free, immediate action should be taken to eliminate barriers which can be removed inexpensively and barriers which greatly restrict the recreation opportunities of handicapped citizens. Long range planning for the removal of all existing barriers should be undertaken in every community.

With the advent of the handibus in many small municipalities it appears that transportation as a factor which limits recreation participation is diminishing in significance.

#### Facility Restrictions

Restrictions on facility use by handicapped persons did not exist in any of the communities surveye:

#### REFERENCES

- Alberta Advisory Board on Recreation for the Disabled. <u>A report on the</u> <u>survey of recreation services for the disabled in Alberta</u>. Edmonton, Alberta, 1975.
- Alberta Recreation Parks and Wildlife, Recreation Development Division. Now that you are a recreation board member. September, 1976.
- Arsenault, D. <u>Service continuum for recreation</u>. A paper presented at the Alberta Association for the Mentally Retarded Training Seminar, Medicine Hat, 1978.
- Arsenault, D. and Wall, A.E. <u>Service continuum for recreation</u>. Unpublished paper, The University of Alberta, 1979.
- Avedon, E.M. <u>Therapeutic recreation service</u>: An applied behavioral <u>science approach</u>. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall Inc., 1974.
- Babbie, E.R. <u>Survey research methods</u>. Belmont, Cal.: Wadsworth Publishing Company, 1973.
- Blakely, V. What one province has done to help its communities. <u>Recrea-</u> <u>tion Canada</u>, 1975, <u>5</u>, 29.
- Brehaut, J.D. The prevalence of the physically disabled in Alberta. <u>Quarterly Statistical Review</u>, Alberta Social Services and Community Health, Research and Planning Division, January-March, 1978, 13-18.
- CAHPER Adapted Programs Committee. <u>A position paper on adapted programs -</u> <u>A rationale for a compulsory introductory course in adapted programs</u>. A paper presented at the CAHPER conference, Winnipeg, June 1979.
- Canadian Association for the Mentally Retarded. <u>A working paper on a</u> <u>policy statement on recreation</u>. Prepared by the Western Canada Ad Hoc Committee on Recreation, March 18, 1980.
- Caplan, F. and Caplan, T. <u>The power of play</u>. Garden City, N.Y.: Anchor Books, 1973.
- Dreimanis, M. <u>The prevalence of mental retardation</u>. (RP26F) A report published by the Government of Alberta, Social Services and Community Health, Research and Planning, August 3, 1979.
- Edginton, C.R., Mcdonald, R.M., & Smith, D.A. Are municipal recreation services for special populations a priority? <u>Leisurability</u>, 1978, <u>5</u>, 4-9.
- Evans, L. Reaction to the study by Edginton, McDonald and Smith. Leisurability, 1978, 5, 11-18.
- Haist, D. Municipal recreation services for special groups. <u>Leisurability</u>, 1975, <u>4</u>, 32-41.

- Hartnett, F. Community recreation opportunities for retarded persons. Leisurability, 1976, 4, 31-34.
- Herron, R.E. and Sutton-Smith, B. Child's play. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1971.
- Hunt, V. <u>A report on the survey on recreation for the disabled in Alberta</u>. Prepared for the Recreation Branch, Department of Youth, Government of Alberta, 1969.
- Hutchison, M. I. and Lord, J. C. Recreation integration Disabled in community programs. <u>Recreation Canada</u>, 1975, <u>3</u>, 60-64.
- Hutchison, P. and Lord, J. <u>Recreation integration</u>. Ottawa: Leisurability Publications, 1979.
- Kahn, R. L. and Cannell, C. F. The dynamics of interviewing. New York: Wiley, 1957.
- Kirk, S.A. <u>Educating exceptional children</u> (2nd ed.). Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, 1972.
- Kraus, R. <u>Recreation and leisure in modern society</u> (2nd ed.). Santa Monica: Goodyear Publishing Company, 1978.
- Kruger, D. Recreation to the study by Edginton, McDonald and Smith. Leisurability, 1978, 5, 9-11.
- Levy, J. Play behavior. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1978.
- Lord, J. Reaction to the study by Edginton, McDonald and Smith. Leisurability, 1978, 5, 13-15.
- Melchers, R. Recreation and advocate associations for the handicapped. Leisurability, 1976A, 2, 30-36.
- Melchers, R. Community action Recreation and disabled persons. Leisurability, 1976B, 3, 4-9.
- Murphy, J.F. <u>Recreation and leisure service</u>. Dubuque, Iowa: Wm. C. Brown Company Publishers, 1975.
- Neale, J.M. and Liebert, R.M. <u>Science and behavior An introduction to</u> <u>methods of research</u>. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall Inc., 1973.
- Parker, D.W. All recreationists must be made aware of the need for integration. <u>Recreation Canada</u>, 1973, <u>5</u>, 28.
- Sensrud, C. Sequential recreation integration streams. Leisurability, 1978, 5, 28-33.
- Sherrill, C. <u>Adapted physical education and recreation</u>. Dubuque, Iowa: Wm. C. Brown Company Publishers, 1976.

Simard, C. and Wall, A.E. A prospective view of university preparation in adapted physical activity for the 90's. Position paper presented at the Second National Conference of the Canadian Council of University Physical Education Administrators, May 1979,

- Sugiyama, K.E. Integration: The recreation director and the parents, Leisurability, 1978, 5, 16-18.
- Witt, P.A. Are the municipalities serving the needs of the handicapped? <u>Recreation Canada</u>, 1973, <u>5</u>, 25-27.
- Witt, P.A. <u>Status of recreation services for the handicapped</u>. Ottawa: Department of Health and Welfare, 1974.

16

Wolfensberger, W. <u>The principle of normalization in human services</u>. Toronto: National Institute on Mental Retardation, 1972.

/ 5

.,

Spinak, J. Normalization and recreation for the disabled. <u>Leisurability</u>, 1975, <u>2</u>, 31-35.

### APPENDIX A

ç?

### INTERVIEW MATERIALS

.

<u>د</u>)

Arsenault and Wall Service Delivery Continuum Individualized Instruction Model Task Sequence 124

1



125

そうしょう。 (いぞうか)時間ではないできる ひざかせ あいぼんちゅう ディア・ディー・マード あま とう

111 1231

Dally - Land



EQUIPMENT

,

NWOO DNIAWNE

 $\sim$ 

un,

Boxes and benches of various heights

OTHER TEACHING SUCCESTIONS	Step down from bench into hoop target on floor, jump board, etc.	Stand behind child holding under shoulders or holding hands around front of child. Cive gentle push at shoulders or short pull from hands.	Step down with child, holding his hand and reducing prompt.	Gradually increase height from which child steps down.	Use a small set of stairs for child to step down.	Jump onto a crash pad, into sand, snow or foam rubber. Move target further away from take-off spot.	
PHYSICAL PROMPTS	CM. Face child, hold both hands and pull so child steps off bench.	MP. Pull with one hand, releasing after take-off.				CM. Face child and hold both hands. Pull downward on hands so that knees bend, then pull up and lift child off bench to floor. Be sure child is momentarily suspended.	
TASK SEQUENCE	<ol> <li>Step down from shin height one foot to the other foot.</li> </ol>					<pre>2. Jump down from shin height with a two-foot take-off and landing. </pre>	

127

and a second second second second second

<u> </u>					
	TASK SEQUENCE		PHYSICAL PROMPTS	OTHER TEACHING SUGGESTIONS	
		म्र	Manipulate child into slight crouch then held hands out in front so that child reaches for them as he jumps. Reduce contact time until child touches hands only on landing. Finally, hold out hands but do not allow contact throughout jump.	Fade prompts by releasing child's hands in air, decreasing contact time in successive trials. Encourage child to land low, with knees bent.	
	Jump down from knee height with two foot take-off and landing.	жр.	Hold hands out in front so that child reaches for them as he jumps. Reduce contact time until child touches hands only on landing.	Gradually increase height of jump. Say 'Jump to me' and stand back 4' - 5'.	
				Jump onto crash pad. Do a jump, land and roll (or fall) on a crash pad.	
4	Jump down from hip height with a two-foot take-off and landing.	₽.	Hold one hand and reduce prompt by releasing child's hands in air, decreasing contact time in successive trials.		
	S.,		Ű		

.

### APPENDIX B

### ORAL QUESTIONNAIRE
#### INTERVIEW QUESTIONS FOR RECREATION DIRECTORS

- How do you determine or keep in touch with the needs of people in your community? (advertise and wait for a response, survey questionnaires, rely on requests or complaints, public meetings)
- 2. To the best of your knowledge have here been any requests of your department for recreation so by bondicapped individuals or their families or friends?

'I'm thinking of people who are blind or deaf, slow learners, , mentally retarded, wheelchair users, or people with artificial limbs.

If yes: What was the nature of the request(s)?

About how many requests would there have been, say in the past year?

For what types of disabilities?

- 3. Could we consider each disability separately?
  - A. First of all, the physically disabled, were you able to help them out?
  - Probes: Were they served in the regular program?\*

Was a special program organized?\*

Did you feel that services could not be offered at that time?\*\*

Did you refer them to someone else?\*\*

4. <u>\*If yes</u>: How do you feel it worked out for all concerned? <u>\*\*If yes</u>: Did they find another service? Did they have to go to a larger community?

Repeat 3 and 4 for B) the mentally retarded

C) others (blind, deaf, emotionally disturbed)

- 5. How does a disabled person or the family of a disabled person know about recreation opportunities for them in your community?
- 6. Have there been any discussions within your department about offering services to special populations which were not a direct result of a request for service?
  - If yes: What do you think led to this discussion? What were the focal points of the discussion? Was there any sort of consensus, or any general areas of of disagreement?
- 7. Do you have any staff members with formal education or practical experience in the area of special populations?

If yes: What is the nature of their experience?

(Probes: teaching, coaching, advocate, counselling,

other)

With which disabled group or groups?

- 8. How do volunteers fit into the scheme of things in your department? Do they figure prominently in all or some of your programs? (If used in a program for the handicapped): Do volunteers run the program or assist a staff member? Has the department trained any volunteers to work specifically with the handicapped? Do you have any handicapped volunteers? If yes (to either of the two preceding questions): How has it worked out?
- 9. A number of people in the recreation area have suggested the services needed by physically, mentally, sensory and  $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ disabled populations really fall on something of a continuum. Maybe I could just show you a diagram to show you what I mean. On one end of the continuum the focus is on segregated instructional upgrading type programs. This would be, for instance, a cardiac patient getting an exercise program at a hospital, or perhaps a young mentally retarded child learning to catch or kick a ball at a special school or institution. On the cher end of the continuum are regular participation programs which are int grated. There might be a double leg amputee in canoeing program, or a senior citizen with failing vision and member of the ballroom dance club. In these cases the people participate without any special support. In between these two ends fall instructional programs which take place in a public setting, like swimming lessons for physically disabled children; and integrated programs where the handicapped function with a minimum of special supports, such as assistance in transportation, changing clothes,

or even in the way the instructor structures the class. So in this particular model we have four program approaches:

1. the instructional program in a segregated setting,

2. the instructional program in an integrated setting,

3. the integrated program with supports, and

4. the regular community program.

Are you with me? Any questions about any stage?

<u>RE:</u> question 3: (If they were serving people or had had requests) Do you feel you are using this kind of approach? In what ways? How do you feel about the possibilities of providing programs at each stage of the continum?

10. I'd like to foc on t instructional upgrading type of programs for a few moments. Many recreation departments have not traditionally been involved in this kind of program. However, realistically these programs are needed by a large number of handicapped persons as a stepping stone in order that they might eventually be integrated into regular programs. In many communities the onus seems to fall for the recreation department because it is the only outlet for recreation services.

Individual instruction which may or may not take place within a group setting is a desirable way of programming. The specific characteristics here are that each participant is assessed individually and the instructor works at least part of the time one on one with the participant on an individually prescribed program. So, the instructor makes plans about what objectives are appropriate, assesses what the individual can do, prescribes and teaches according to the assessment, then evaluates the effects of the instruction on each person. (show diagram) Are you familiar with this kind of approach? Does the department offer any programs like this or have they in

- the past?
- If yes: Is task analysis (where everything to be learned is broken down into small, successively ordered parts) used, or are written task analysed sequences such as this one used? (present example)
- <u>If no</u> (no programs offered): Do you know of any staff members who have experience in this kind of program? Do you think this kind of approach could really come in handy in implementing programs for the disabled?

11. The provincial government has a section for recreation services to special groups. Have you received anything from them? (Probes: letters, pamphlets, workshops) If yes: Has this been useful to the department? Are you aware of any ways they have been active? Has the regional recreation consultant been of assistance first of all directly by giving information about the handicapped or secondly as a liason between your department and the section for special groups?

Have you been in communication with any advocate groups, for example:
the Alberta Advisory Board on Recreation for the Disabled
the Alberta Association for the Mentally Retarded

- the Alberta Sports and Recreation Association for the Blind
- the Alberta Association for Disabled Skiing
- the Alberta Amputee Sports and Recreation Association
- the Alberta section of the Canadian Wheelchair Sports Association
- the University of Alberta?
- If yes: What did they say?

Were they helpful?

- <u>If no</u>: These groups mig<sup>1</sup> be helpful in getting programs started.
- 13. Is there a written policy originating either from the recreation board or from within the department which deals specifically with offering services to the handicapped?

If yes: What are the essential characteristics of the policy?

(Could I have a copy?)

14. Alot of people have expressed hesitancy toward working with the handicapped, usually saying things like;

"I don't know enough about them."

"I don't know how to act when I'm around them."

"I don't think I could cope with all the situations that might come up."

Do you feel any of your staff might have any of these kind of hesitancies about working with the disabled?

If yes: Could that be a problem or obstacle in implementing

programs for the disabled?

- 15. How do you think people feel about having a handicapped person in their recreation program, or their child's recreation program? Do you think it depends on the kind of handicap the person has?
- 16. Could you tell me how the recreation board is appointed? Is there an effort to include people who will be a voice for the handicapped?

Are any of the current board members handicapped themselves or the parents of handicapped children?

Have there been any discussions by the board members about offer: 5 services to the handicapped?

- If yes: Again, what were the focal points of the discussion? Was there any sort of consensus or any general areas of disagreement?
- 17. Are there any particular financial limitations which might hinder your department in programming for the handicapped? (Probes: lack of money to train or hire staff or to provide staffing hours or buy equipment)
- 18. The accessibility of public buildings, particularly to wheelchair users is an issue which has surfaced in Alberta in the recent past. Are you aware of any architectural barriers which might

limit the use of your facilities to persons in wheelchairs, the visually impaired, or other groups?

Have any special requests for funds been made to the If yes: local funding agency or the provincial government to make modifications?

Transportation is another part of the accessibility issue. What kind of options would be open to a handicapped person first of all, wanting to use the facilities during open recreation periods or secondly if the person was enrolled in a recreation program?

Are their any restrictions on when or under what circumstances 19. handicapped people can use the facilities? If yes: Could you explain who is restricted and why?

# APPENDIX C

4

1

э э

# ORAL QUESTIONNAIRE RECORDING FORM



1.	Rely on requests or complaints	
	Advertise services and wait for a response	
	Survey questionnaires	
	Organize public meetings	•
	Attend meetings of local groups or associations	
	Other:	
	p.	
2.	Requests for service: Yes No	۰ م
	C Nature of request: T Handicap; A	Type of Service
۰.	C T Handicap; A	Type of Service
	C T Handicap; A	Type of _ Service
	C T Handicap; A	Type of Vice
1	Number of requests:	
1	Cypes of disabilities:	-
		·

<u>\_</u>

3A: Ph	ysically Disabled	
	Regular program Special program No service Referral	
•	· · · · · ·	
4. Result: found of service went to larger	comments comments	
communi		
other		
		·
3B: Men	ntally Retarded	<b>W</b> .
	Regular program Special program No service	
 	No service	
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
4. Result:	Result:	,
went to larger	comments or mixed comments comments comments	
communit		, ia 1
other		

ALL MEDIA

•

1

.

<b>s</b> 3	c:	Other	Handicaps	Blind		onally disturbed	
			Regular pr		3		
			Special pr	-			
			No service	ч.			7
	-		Referral		4 -		
				`			
4.	Result	:	Result:		i		
		found other service went to larger community		ments	neutral or mixed comments	comments	
		other			- <u></u>		
5.	Public	city of oppo		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
		word of mon	uth L	contact	associations	for handicapped	l
		newspaper					
		brochures o	lelivered				
		radio					
		other:					
	Specif	y: P	rogram for	a type of di	sability	40	
			rogram for 11 welcome	all handicap	ped	¢ 	

6. Staff discu	ssion: Yes No
Leading to Discussion:	the family/friend of staff is handicapped
	local/regional/national media coverage
	y public awareness campaign
	<pre>professional development context (workshop, course, regional consultant)</pre>
	other:
Focal points	
. Consensus:	Yes No
<	
•	
Disagreement:	Yes No
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
•	
	1
7.	Number
Formal Educat:	of Staff
Luucat.	
•	2 yeat college specialization
	4 year degree specialization
	other:

Ą

Practical Experience: teaching P.	H M.R other
coaching P.	H. M.R. other
Leisure counsel- P. ling	H M.R other
advocate P.I	H. M.R. other
other:	······································
8. Volunteers used in:	
all programs some p	rograms no programs
not us	ed in handicapped program
	n handicapped program
	sed in handicapped program
run the program	
assist recreation staff memb	
other:	
Trained to work with handicapped:	Yes No
Handicapped volunteers:	
Comments:	Yes No

. . . . . .

9.	Using continuum approach: Yes No
	How: Offer 1 Specify programs:
	2
	3
Ŋ.	4
[	Comments:
,	
	Possibility of offering each stage:
	could offer all
,	only 2, 3 and 4
	only 3 and 4
	only 4
4	other combination
	could offer none
,	Comments:
	•
10.	Individual Instruction: familiar Yes No
	Offered: Yes Previously Never
	Comments:
	Task analysis: is used Yes No
	with written materials Yes No
Ť	

ī

144

....

Staff expe	erienced in individualized programs:
Yes	
Useful as	an approach for handicapped:
Yes	
Comments:	
·	
Recreation	services to special groups:
let:	ters pamphlets workshop othe
Useful:	Yes No
Aware of ac	tivies Western Canada Conference on Integration
	· · · · ·
	Workshops:
	other:
Regional Re	creation Consultant:
	directly useful regarding handicapped
	liason
	never talked about the handicapped
	not in touch at all
Comments:	
oumenca.	
Journerres	6
	4

	AABRD
	AAMR
	AS & RAB
	AADS (AASA)
	AAS & RA
	CWSA
-	U. of A./U. of C./U. of L.
	Other
	Said:
	Were helpful: Yes No
13.	Have a written policy: Yes No
	Origin: Board Department Other:
	Characteristics:
V.2.	
14.	Hesitancy:
<b>.</b>	Present Not Present Doesn't Know
	Implementation problem Why no hesitancy:
	Yes
	No

ŝ,

In touch with advocates:

12.

146

.

Overcome problem: read literature workshops university/college practical experience other:	
<pre>15. Public opinion on integrated service: value positively mixed feelings value negatively don't know other Comments:</pre>	. •
Depends on handicap: Yes No less positive toward: M.R. P.H. Emotionally Disturbed Other:	
16.       Elected         Appointed by mayor and town council         Nominated from residents or organizations in community         Other:         Include voice for handicapped:         Yes         No         Board members handicapped:         Yes         No         Board Discussion:	

	family/friend of board member is handicapped
	local/regional/national media coverage
	e awareness campaign
Foce where	
	2
Consensus:	Yes No
Disagreement:	Yes No
· ·	
7. Financial 1	imitations:, transportation
7. Financial l	
7. Financial 1	staff development/leadership training
7. Financial 1	<pre>staff development/leadership training staffing hours</pre>
7. Financial 1	<pre>staff development/leadership training staffing hours equipment</pre>
7. Financial 1	<pre>staff development/leadership training staffing hours</pre>
7. Financial l	<pre>staff development/leadership training staffing hours equipment</pre>
	<pre>staff development/leadership training staffing hours equipment</pre>
	<pre>staff development/leadership training staffing hours equipment others:</pre>
	<pre>staff development/leadership training staffing hours equipment others:</pre>
	<pre>staff development/leadership training staffing hours equipment others:</pre>
Comments:	staff development/leadership training staffing hours equipment others:
Comments:	staff development/leadership training staffing hours equipment others:
Comments:	staff development/leadership training staffing hours equipment others:

	<b>4</b>				
	Funds requested: Yes		No		
	Prov	incial			
	Fede	ral j			
1. <b>1</b> .	munic	cipal	٠	ಳ	
	assoc	ciation			
	other	::	·····	· · ·	
	Transportation options:				
	A. For open facility time				
	public transpo	rtation			
	special bus se	rvice			
	volunteer driv	ers	,		
	must arrange o	wn	·	¢	
	B. For program				
	public transpo	rtation			
	special bus se	rvice	·		
	volunteer drive	ers ,		、	
	must arrange or	m			
	c				
19.	Restrictions: Yes	No No		•	
	Who:	Why:			~
					_
					_

r

## APPENDIX D

.

# WRITTEN QUESTIONNAIRE

WATTER QUESTIONNAIRE

,

150

2

 $_{\rm C2}$ 

\*

#### WRITTEN QUESTIONS

Please assess each of the following statements and indicate by circling one of the numbers whether you:

- 1. strongly agree
- 2. agree
- 3. disagree
- or 4. strongly disagree.

Please do not hesitate to express your true opinions. If you wish to make written comments please feel free to do so on the back of any sheet.

st rong ly

agree

1

1

1

agree

, 2

2

2

strongly disagree

4

disagre

3

3

3

- In terms of recreation, the handicapped people in this community are well served by local agencies for the handicapped.
- Handicapped people are well served by this recreation department.
- 3. In the past five years, the demand for recreation services by handicapped people and their advocates has increased in this community.

						۹.,	
	• •	strongly agree	agree	lsagree	strongly disagree	~	
4. Improved	recreation services are	as Bort	40 00	dis	stı dis		
	y needed in this communi						
by:		2					
A. mi	ldly retarded persons	1	· 2	3	4		
B, mo	derately retarded person	s 1	· <u>2</u>	3	4	•	
C. se re	verely and profoundly Larded persons	1	2.	3	4		la <i>∽</i>
	ind or visually impaired rsons	ī	2	3	4		×
	af or h <b>eari</b> ng impaired rsons	1	2	3	4		
	tionally disturbed sons +	1	2	3	4	#3	
	sically handicapped sons	1	<b>2</b>	3	4		54
H. lea	rning disabled persons	1	2	3	4		·: \
5. There is	currently a staff member		• •	•			
	t full-time or				~ .		
permanent	part-time) in this	<b>ي</b> ۲			•		
departmen	t who would feel						
confident	programing for:						
A. mile	ily retarded persons	1	2	13	4		
B. mod	erately retarded persons	1	2	3	4		
reta	erely and profoundly arded persons pendent handicapped)	1	2	3	4 .	·.	
	d or visually impaired	1	2	3	4	• • 3	
E. deaf pers	and hearing impaired ons	1	2	3	4		
F. emot pers	ionally disturbed	1	2	3	.4		
G. phys pers	ically handicapped ons	1	2.	3	4		
H. lear	ning disabled persons	1	2	3	4		• 2
						i i	2 - 1 

**\*** 

4

S

.

152

•

		strongly agree	agree	disagrec	strongly disagree	· ₹.
6.	The majority of staff members	1	2	3	ან 4	
	in this department favour	· •	Z	و	4	
· · · ·	providing direct services to			,		
	handicapped persons.					
7.	The majority of members of the A Recreation Board favour	1	2	3	4	
¢	providing direct services to	. 1				
41	handicapped persons.				1	
8.	The recreation department in this community should be involved in					
	some capacity at the following					
	points on the service delivery continuum.				-	
	A. instructional upgrading programs in a segregated	æ 1	2	3	4	<b>*3</b>
	setting.					
· .	B. instructional programs in an integrated setting.	1	2	3	4	
·	C. integrated programs with supports.	1	2	3	4	
	D. the regular community program.	1	Ż	3	4	
<b>9.</b>	People in the community, are	1	<b>*</b> 2	3	4	
	generally in favour of having	۰.		-	r	•
· ·	handicapped persons integrated					
	into regular <sub>e</sub> programs.	<b>.</b> .				
10. *	Attempts should be made to	, 1	2;	3	4	ند ب د
· ·*	Board a person who will act as			•	- ti	
	a voice for the handicapped.					- <b>*</b> ~
		•				
	••	•				•

.

1

,

v

÷.

strongly agree	agree	disagree
1	2	З

٩.,

Not A

Problem

11. Attempts should be made to include a person who is handicapped on the Recreation Board.

12. Below is a list of potential problems in offering or improving services for the handicapped. Please rate the problems in terms of their significance to you as:

Major

Problem

C.S.

Minor

Problem

🚰 - major problems

\*- minor problems

- would not be problems (at present)

1. lack of adequate facilities

 lack of adequate transportation

3. lack of trained personnel

4. lack of trained volunteers

 lack of direct consulting services

 lack of identified participants for programs

 lack of written program materials

8. lack of equipment

9. attitudes of the public at large

10. attitudes of persons in the recreation department

11. attitudes of persons on the Recreation Board

12. others:

¢







s,

#### LETTERS

1

ų,

Initial Contact Letter Post-Interview Letter of Thanks



#### DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICAL EDUCATION FACULTY OF PHYSICAL EDUCATION AND RECREATION

A The way

Dear Sir or Madam:

I am writing to request your assistance with regard to a project that I am undertaking while doing graduate studies at the University of Alberta. I am aware of and sympathetic to the many and varied demands placed on a recreation department in a small community. I am also aware that this study may not be of pressing concern to you at this moment, but I need your assistance as you are the key person in the delivery of recreation services in your community.

In recent years there has been a marked trend towards offering a variety of services to handicapped persons through the generic systems in place in society. There are people in the recreation field who have suggested recreation departments should be doing more for the handicapped people in their communities. Realistically, I believe there are a number of problems facing a small community such as yours in the provision of services for the handicapped. I would like to know how well you feel your department is equipped to meet the recreation needs of the handicapped in your community. Specifically, I am interested in your views on the recreation needs of the people, on the state of the art in your department, on the attitudes of people towards the handicapped, and on the block which might hold back handicapped people from participating. Please do not be reluctant if you do not feel particularly knowledgable about recreation for the handicapped. Your knowledge of your community and the recreation department is of prime importance in this study. Of course, the sources of all information will be completely confidential.

. ./2

I sincerely hope you will consent to a personal interview of one to two hours in length. I anticipate being in your area or An alternative date could be arranged should neither of these dates be convenient for you. Please let me know as soon as possible if you will be a participant in the study. Should you have any questions or concerns please do not hesitate to express them when you contact me. As indicated previously you are the key to our understanding of the provision of recreation services.

- 2 -

Thank you for your time and consideration. I look forward to your response.

Sincerely,

Diane Jacobson Hoy 🗇 🚽

DJH/kkh



# DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICAL EDUCATION FACULTY OF PHYSICAL EDUCATION AND RECREATION

June 4, 1980

Dear

¢,

P

Thank you very much for donating your time to be part of my study. I appreciate your willingness to share information and ideas with me and I hope the results of this study will be of use to you and to other persons in the recreation field in Alberta.

Again, thank you.

Sincerely,

DJĤ/hh

Diane Jacobsen Hoy

朷

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA, EDMONTON, CANADA T6G 2H9

## APPENDIX F

•

· 4

4

# WRITTEN POLICY USED BY A RECREATION DEPARTMENT

159

٦.

•

#### Re: HANDICAP ORGANIZATIONS

Adopted: JULY 15, 1979

The recreation department will work in close co-operation with all handicap organizations. Providing programmes for their participation and enjoyment.

Educating and training the general public in all age categories, for them to gain an understanding and respect for this special population.

Recreation areas such as Parks, Playgrounds and other facilities will be constructed in such a manner so as to eliminate the oblem of gaining access and participation in all categories of the handicapped.

Swimming is identified as an ideal environment where they can be challenged to attain the level of their capability. Dealing specifically with the mentally retarded, volunteers must be recruited and trained in water safety activities. One instructor and one pupil is the ideal learning situation to strive for.

Lastly, it is the aim of this department to work towards the time when the handicapped and normal people can join together in many activities, both in the learning and play situations for the obvious benefit of both parties.

APPENDIX G

.

•

.

POPULATION FIGURES OF COMMUNITIES PARTICIPATING IN THE SURVEY

. . . . .

,

Municipality	1976 Canada Census Population	by Recreat	1980 Population Estimates by Recreation Directors
	Ffgures	Town Population	Additional Population Served in Surrounding Area
A	4,337	012 7	
B	6,907		1
C C	4,038		1
Q .*	6,731	7,412	2,000
21 	4,116	3,800	
Ē.	7,344	11,200	8,000
5	4,303	4,763	
Н	5,296	5,500	7.500
I	6,339	8,000	1,200
Ŀ	6,154	6,200	2,800
K	4,182	4,600	1,000
L	8,304	11,000	
W	6,754	8,592	300
N	4,636	5,000	7 200

. .

.

162

¢ .

.

2.24

#### APPENDIX H

.

٠

163

ç

( Ne.

.

• ' |

17

··· ·

. •

A DEVELOPMENTAL CONTINUUM OF EXPERIENCES HUTCHISON AND LORD (197 Developmental Continuum of speriences



Hutchison and Lord (1979) p.111

η